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ASSEMBLYMEMBER WILMA CHAN:  Good afternoon, everyone.  If everyone could take a seat, we want to get started.  We have a very long agenda here.  We’re going to be joined by other members shortly, but I do want to get started.


This is the Joint Informational Hearing of the Senate Health Committee, the Assembly Health Committee, the Senate Subcommittee on Aging and Long-Term Care, the Assembly Aging and Long-Term Care Committee, Senate Budget Subcommittee No. 3, and Assembly Budget Subcommittee No. 1.  Today we’re going to talk about something that’s very much on the minds of all Californians, which is the Medicare Part D drug coverage.  Let me just tell you what the format is, and then we’ll allow members to make some opening statements.

We’re going to have a number of panels.  We’re going to have a panel on the state experience to talk about what’s been happening so far at the state level.  We’re having a panel on the federal response, and Jeff Flick, the regional administrator, will be here, as well as Calise Muñoz, regional director of Region IX.  Then we’ll have a panel of representatives from the drug plans who are providing the Medicare drug coverage.  And lastly, we’ll have a panel of response and recommendations from advocates who are out there in the field working with patients who qualify for these plans.  Of course, we’ll have time for public comment.

So, let me start by making some comments, and then I’ll turn it over to Senator Ortiz, the chair of Senate Health Committee.


As you know, we’ve been having a lot of discussion about this topic, and we’re here because we never want to see the kind of headlines that we’ve been seeing for the past several weeks again; things like “Emergency Declared,” “Patients Snarled in Medicare Mess,” “Vulnerable People Still on Drug Plan Rollercoaster,” and “Take Two Aspirin and Read This Now.”  It’s totally unacceptable.


One month ago the federal Medicare program and private prescription drug plans took over responsibility for making sure the most vulnerable people in our society got the drugs they needed, and it’s just simply been a mess.  On     January 1st, one million Californian dual eligibles were transferred into this plan.  People have compared this to Hurricane Katrina, so we call it “the Hurricane Katrina of healthcare.”  It is as disastrous.


For the first three weeks of January, instead of prescription drugs, the federal government gave us excuses and denials.  It’s only when the states came to the rescue and bailed out the federal government that hundreds of thousands of desperate people got the drugs they needed.

This hearing will help answer the following questions:

· What happened?

· Why did it happen?  And,

· How can we prevent it from ever happening again?

As legislators, we have a responsibility to the taxpayers and people covered by public programs to make sure they work, and we feel Congress has a similar role since they are the ones who passed and implemented this plan.  Yet, because of the failures by the federal government and the private prescription drug plans, states across the country had to step in to protect our most vulnerable citizens.  In California, we joined with the Governor on a bipartisan basis to provide emergency drug relief from January 12th, and we have a few more days of it—until     February 11th.  Through midnight last night, California’s Emergency Drug Relief Plan had paid for more than 197,000 prescriptions for over 95,000 beneficiaries because the federal government had let us down.  Those people, in other words, would not have gotten their coverage if we hadn’t stepped in.  This hearing will help us understand the plight of these beneficiaries, the pharmacies, and the state.  


We have a lot ahead of us, and hopefully, we can come up with some proper responses and remedies to a situation that has been nothing short of disaster.  


Senator Ortiz?


SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  Let me thank Assemblymember Chan, chair of the Assembly Health Committee, for welcoming those of us in the Senate to join her today.  Let me thank all of you who are here, of course, which is, I think, the third joint informational oversight hearing that these committees have had on Medicare Part D.

The issue, of course, has been discussed in several budget subcommittee hearings as well on these issues.  Many of us looked at these a year-and-a-half ago and anticipated some of the situations but didn’t anticipate the complexity, I think, or the depth of the challenge.


When we first began to discuss how Part D would roll out in California two years ago—it was February of 2004, at the first hearing that the Senate Health Committee had—we discussed the impact that the major change in prescription delivery would have on the population of beneficiaries who are dually eligible for both Medi-Cal and Medicare in our state.  Since the beginning of January, there have been a number of serious and really complex complaints that have come about regarding the performance of this transition in this particular population of beneficiaries who tend to be sicker, who tend to be poorer and more frail than the general Medicare population that we will anticipate later on in the year rolling into this program.  But this particular population is the most vulnerable.


Under the federal law, dual eligibles were auto-enrolled randomly into one of ten prescription drug plans (or PDPs) in the state late last year.  There was no regard to whether or not that particular plan in which they were assigned included in its formulary any of the drugs that these dual eligibles were taking.  And, as we covered in many of the earlier hearings, there’s no guarantee that from month to month the particular plan that these dual eligibles were rolled into will be assured to continue to provide their needed prescription drugs.

Because of the breakdown of computer systems—what has clearly been demonstrated is the inadequacy of these call centers—and the failure of the federal government to specify drug transition rules and limited plan formularies, as many as 200,000 dual eligibles in California were unable to obtain their required medications during the first two weeks of Part D implementation.  In mid-January, California, along with, I think, twenty-five other states, began paying for those drugs that should have been available under Part D.  We stepped in, we took action, and we are paying, given the risk of life.  How exactly this money is going to be recouped, however—when it will occur, if at all—as well as what role the federal government will play in assisting us in recouping California’s scarce dollars, along with the long-term fixes that I think are the obligation of the federal government—all of those issues still remain unclear.  The authority for the state benefit that we authorized—bipartisan, both houses—ends on February 11th, and we know that the problems aren’t going to automatically stop on that day.  It’s unclear whether they’re going to stop at any date in the near future.  

The new dual eligibles are coming onto Medicare each month, and these are new beneficiaries that will also be trying to change their plans.  If they’re unsatisfied with their plans—if that particular plan that particular month declines to carry their medication—we’re going to continue to see these not only challenges of people coming on line with these programs, but new eligibles coming on board.  Again, this population is particularly vulnerable.  The scales, the patient, and the information that is available to them is limited.  We can’t let this system continue to flounder in problems for those who are most vulnerable, again, to all the disease and frailty that we know of.  The seniors and the disabled deserve better from our state and from a system that was working fine for many of them only a few weeks ago.


Now, things are incredibly chaotic and uncertain.  The question today is:  How can we fix this?  What is the federal Medicare doing to ensure the health, safety, and access of these patients?  What role do the plans play?  When will this system adequately work for all beneficiaries so that they’re not denied their drugs; they’re not forced to pay with very limited incomes for drugs that they once got free?  They should not be made to wait for real assistance for hours on end.  They are unable to get answers from strained call centers and HICAP agencies, and we need to assure that they don’t suffer any further as we continue implementation of this transition.


I look forward to the speakers.  I’m anxious particularly to hear from the federal representatives and see how their testimony differs from the hearings that we had two years ago.  I went ahead and annotated the testimony from our hearing in 2004, so I’m anxiously awaiting Mr. Flick’s responses particularly on these issues.


So, once again, I hope that we come up with some answers in this hearing, and I look forward to further speakers.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Senator Cox wanted to speak, but I wanted to ask the other chairs/sponsors of the committee whether you want to make comments.


Ms. Berg and Mr. De La Torre.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER PATTY BERG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

My name is Assemblywoman Patty Berg.  I chair the Assembly Committee on Aging and Long-Term Care.  

During the fall, I held four town hall meetings in Senator Chesbro’s and my district on the changes in store for Medicare.  At each stop, I heard from constituents who had thrown up their hands in total frustration.  Surprisingly, the majority of those who attended were not dual eligibles because most dual eligibles were under the impression that everything would go smoothly for them because it was automatic enrollment.  We’re all here today because for many it didn’t.


This program is brand new, and it is already broken.  Two-thirds of the people who have enrolled in the new program are confused by it.  Older adults, rural residents, and senior college graduates are, all, the most likely to acknowledge that they are having major difficulties with the program.  Instead of easy access to affordable prescription drugs, our most frail and vulnerable residents have encountered a maze of deductibles, co-pays, tiers, and formularies.  In short, it’s been a mess.  

It’s appalling to me that our federal government has concocted such a convoluted system, all under the guise of providing relief to older adults and people with disabilities.  Seniors have been saying to me, This is just the beginning of an effort to privatize Medicare, and I have to say I agree.  Instead of developing a workable system to improve the health of older adults and people with disabilities, we have a system designed to improve the profit margins for the pharmaceutical industry and insurance providers.  We have got to do better.  


We need to ensure that everyone who needs help gets it, and we have to ensure that the people on the front lines—the pharmacists, the doctors, the service providers—have the resources that they need to help our most vulnerable residents.  We have to do all that we can do to make this program work for Californians.

I look forward, also, to hearing from all of our witnesses and members of the public, and I sincerely hope that we can identify solutions to the problems that far too many Californians have encountered.


Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Mr. De La Torre, did you have opening. . . ?  No.


Senator Cox.


SENATOR DAVE COX:  Madam Chair, thank you.


I, too, thank you, Madam Chair and committee members, for holding this hearing today.  I indeed believe that they do in fact have merit.  

Madam Chair, I do want to say to you, however, I believe that the residents, and particularly the beneficiaries, of the state would be better served if we in fact concentrated on solving the problems rather than attempting to find fault.  We did that last week, in fact, through AB 132.  Recognizing that there was a problem, we met and on a bipartisan basis took the issue by the horns, so to speak, and took action.  After that bipartisan togetherness, if you will, it was quickly signed by the Governor.  


I think the important thing today is for us to hear what the problems are.  And then, to the extent that someone has, if they have, a solution relative to how that problem can be solved, I certainly want to hear that.  But I don’t want to spend a significant amount of time in here this afternoon having someone try to assert who’s at fault.  We know the system isn’t working.  Let’s fix it.  Let’s get on with it.


Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are there other opening comments from members?


Mr. De La Torre.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER HECTOR DE LA TORRE:  I just really wanted to make an announcement.  Last week, as we were doing this wonderful bipartisan effort to bail out the federal mistake—that is, Medicare Part D—we simultaneously, many of us on the Assembly side, put together a letter that we sent to Attorney General Bill Lockyer.  We asked him to sue the federal government to recoup those dollars.  It isn’t enough for us to put those dollars up.  We need to get those dollars back.  And so, I’m very happy to note that today, Attorney General Lockyer announced that he is going to file a legal challenge to the flawed federal prescription drug plan so that we can recoup those dollars for the State of California.  

This wasn’t our mess; we didn’t create it.  We’re here to try to fix it and try to work with the people of California to address their concerns.

Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  I have the honor of overseeing the first panel discussion.  The topic of that first panel is “The State Experience.”  Let me ask Tracy Patterson, who is a Medi-Cal/Medicare beneficiary constituent of mine from the city of Citrus Heights—let’s ask Ms. Patterson to please come forward.  And Sergeants, if you could assist Ms. Patterson.  Let me also ask the other speakers to come forward—there’s enough room here.  That would be Marta Erismann, who is a community outreach coordinator with the California Health Advocates.  Welcome.  As well as Michael Negrete, who’s the vice president of Clinical Affairs, California Pharmacists Association.  And finally, Mr. Rosenstein.  You’re welcome to come forward; you know the committee well.  It will save us the little logistical challenges.


With that, I’ve been reminded by my co-chair that indeed there’s a five-minute limit on testimony; that all of the witnesses have been informed.  I luckily am not the timekeeper, but rather, Assemblymember Chan’s staff person is.  So, let me just ask you to try to adhere to the five minutes; but of course, there’s some latitude, I think, that will be afforded.


Welcome, Ms. Patterson.  Thank you for being here.


MS. TRACY PATTERSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair and committee members, for allowing me to speak at this hearing today.  My name is Tracy Patterson, and I am a dual-eligible patient in California.


I thought you might like to hear from me about my experiences with the new Part D plan.  And I’d also like to thank HICAP and John very much for all the help that they have so far given me and to everybody else.  Without them, I don’t think I would have gotten through the first week.


First, I would like to tell you that I was born with a disability—actually, several different disabilities—and I was also diagnosed at age 24 with bipolar, finally after ten years.  All through my life, I’ve always been with some kind of state program.  I was with CCS first, then went to Medi-Cal/Medicare.  It’s always been a fine program, from what I felt and saw.  It worked for me.  I got what I needed when I needed it and how I needed it.  I’ve had surgeries since the age of nine months old, and I’ve had medications since I was nine months old, and I’ve always gotten them when I needed them.


I thought everything was going to be fine, and then came January 1, 2006, when everything wasn’t fine.  I could not get the medications I needed.  It took a week and a half until I got the medications, and it was a week and a half after my date was due to get them.  I was off my bipolar medication for a week and a half.  That can be very dangerous.  It can make me suicidal.  


You know, I always believed that—and I was taught—that if something isn’t broken, you don’t fix it.  What I see is that you guys took something that wasn’t broken and you tried to fix it, and now you want to fix what’s already broken.  The only solution I would see is to dump what you’ve already done and just go back to the old system.  You know, even when I had to get prescriptions that maybe Medi-Cal didn’t want to give right away, I would always call them, and then they would go through and I would receive them, no problem.  I called today to pick up some medications for today, and not only am I paying the one- and three-dollar co-pay, I’m paying for one medication $4.34.  I don’t know where that came from.  

I’m very frustrated at this point.  I don’t know what I’m going to do.  Finally, after a week and a half of calling, I got onto Humana, which I wasn’t actually already on, on January 1st.  And then, supposedly after I got my first medications that I was supposed to get, I got deleted out of the program once again.  So, when I went back to get my other medications that I needed four days later, I was once again out of the system.  Humana wasn’t talking and neither was their payment company.  And they refused to call each other, so I was not getting medication again.  And then finally, I got back on it, with John’s help, and I got my medications.  

But I would really, really appreciate it if somehow, someway, you guys find a way to get us back either to the old system or to make this one work but without co-pays.  I make $832 a month, and I have rent, I have bills, and I have everything else to cover.  So, with a co-pay, I really can’t do it.

Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Ms. Patterson.  Let me first apologize that you’re going through such a difficult process, and let me let you know that we, the Legislature—we’re not the ones that caused this.  You want us to take you back to where you were.  We’d like to take you back where you were, but the federal government imposed this.  So, let’s find a way to have your story replicated in terms of the challenges.  And we’re going to hear from the federal government on those difficulties.


I have a question very quickly, but my committee staff is going to provide you a bit of information.  You’re my constituent.  We’re handling a lot of these through the district office.  We closed my district office in Citrus Heights—I apologize—but we have one across the street, and we’ll just find a way to get that information to you so we can help you.  I apologize for that.


Let me ask—you’ve given us a general overview of your challenges.  Can you be a little more specific on who you first called—you don’t need to name the pharmacy by name—and what that initial response was?  You mentioned that you were secondly added to Humana.  Is that the second plan you were put into post-January 1?

MS. PATTERSON:  You know, at this point, I still don’t know.  All I know is that they told me that I needed to find out what plan I was on.  I called Medi-Cal, the 1-800 number, and they told me to call this person and then this person.  I kept going through people, and finally I got told I was on Humana.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And that’s the 1-800 number.


MS. PATTERSON:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s the Medicare, which is the federal; not Medi-Cal, which is the state.


MS. PATTERSON:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But, to your recollection, you don’t recall that they sent you notification that said you’d been put into Humana.


MS. PATTERSON:  I never got anything.  I didn’t get anything until sometime last week.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t know if there are others who have questions for this witness.  I’d like to make sure that we find a way to fix this for you, but I’d like you to listen to the other witnesses and see if there are any other questions from my colleagues.


MS. PATTERSON:  Can I tell you one other thing?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please.


MS. PATTERSON:  Thank you.  You know, not only this, but by calling all these numbers and having to stay on the phone and this and that—I only have a cell phone because I need to be able to get emergency help through my family when I need to.  Now because of all these phone calls, my cell phone bill had to go up to $250 this month, and that’s absolutely ridiculous.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And that’s some of the things that weren’t factored in, in the reality of people who are dependent on these programs.  So, I appreciate you sharing that.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  I just wanted to be clear since you’re the first testifier and you’re, I think, a great example.  So, what happened is, you went—because you normally go once a month, or whatever, to get your drugs—you went into the pharmacy and they said to you, Oh, you’ve been switched to something, but we don’t know what it is.  Is that what happened to you?

MS. PATTERSON:  I call.  I just call in, and I say, “Jeffrey, I need [this], [this], and [this] filled,” because I get my drugs filled. . . . I get them different days.  Like sometimes I get them on the 14th, some I get on the 24th, and some I get around the 1st.  And some I get whenever I run out and I need them, depending on what it is.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  You made your routine call, and that’s when you found out that something had happened with your coverage.

MS. PATTERSON:  Yes.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’re welcome to stay as we hear from the other witnesses telling their similar stories.  Thank you so much, and we’ll see whether we can assist.


I think the next speaker we have is Marta Erismann.  Welcome.


MS. MARTA ERISMANN:  Thank you very much.  Good afternoon and thank you for the opportunity to provide information this afternoon.


I’m the community outreach coordinator for California Health Advocates (CHA), and I’m also a HICAP volunteer counselor.  CHA is a nonprofit organization dedicated to Medicare beneficiary advocacy.  As part of our work in support of the local HICAPs, we handle calls into the 1-800 phone line that have been incorrectly routed.  With limited resources, California Health Advocates has responded to more than 1,600 callers seeking assistance with the Part D program.  I’ve personally responded to over 300 Spanish-speaking callers during this same period.  My testimony is based on my conversations with these callers.


Like Tracy, many Hispanics use prepaid minutes for their cell phones.  Many saw their minutes drained as they waited on hold for hours for a Medi-Cal representative or a health representative.  Some had to borrow money to be able to get back on the phone and continue on their search for a plan.  Many Spanish-speaking callers reported that the plans do not have bilingual representatives, or if they did, the number of bilingual staff was limited and unable to respond to the demand.  Many callers were frustrated by the nonresponsiveness of the plans.  Once they were able to leave a message on their recording, some have waited two weeks or more to receive a call back from the plan.  Many pharmacies were not able to communicate with the dual eligible, and they left the pharmacy without their medications, without knowing why they didn’t get their meds.  Many dual eligibles believe that Medi-Cal is ________ in the program—It must be the best for us—only to discover when they went to refill their prescriptions, that their plan did not cover their medications.  Medicare Part D information is mostly web-based; yet, the beneficiaries of the program are the less computer savvy of the population.  The dual eligible, in addition, have financial barriers to own a computer and connected to the Internet.  Many dual eligibles take multiple medications like Tracy.  A co-payment of one to three dollars is nothing for me; I’m working.  But for those at the poverty level taking fifteen medications with a $3 monthly co-pay places an undue burden on their financial situation.  Some of my callers have hearing difficulties which made it difficult to navigate Medicare and the plans’ ___________.  For most of January, it has been especially emotionally taxing due to the intensity of negative emotions shared by some of the callers and my feelings of helplessness to alleviate their circumstances.


Let me tell you about Mr. Rivera from Bell Gardens.  He called on January 12th.  Mr. Rivera is a diabetic and legally blind.  He had been without his insulin for three days.  Mr. Rivera’s glucose reading was about 500.  His local pharmacy refused to refill his prescription and told him that it would be three or four days to resolve the computer glitch at Medicare.  Because I am a diabetic, I know what would happen if Mr. Rivera went without insulin for three days.  I told him if I could not resolve his situation in two hours, to get in a cab and go to the nearest emergency room and save his life.  This was not necessary.  Thanks to Michael Negrete’s office and the intervention, because they were able to call the pharmacy and talk to the pharmacist, he was able to get his medication.

Another caller, Mrs. _________’s son from Hollister, he called on Friday before Martin Luther King weekend.  His mother had an infected toe.  She is also a diabetic.  She could not get the medication for her toe infection.  I know what can happen if a diabetic goes without medication for three days.  This could have resulted in an amputated foot.  Well, it’s Friday, it’s 4:30 in the afternoon.  I had the medication charged to my personal credit card until Tuesday, when I was able to get ahold again with Michael Negrete’s office, and with his intervention, we were able to get another prescription.

I want to say some of the things that my callers—please allow me thirty seconds . . .

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Sure, go ahead.


MS. ERISMANN:  . . . some of the things that my callers have said to me and I have carried with me, and I’m now leaving them in your lap:


“I may just lay down and die.”


“They don’t want to pay for us old people, so they are just going to kill us.”


“Now I have to choose between dying of sickness and dying of hunger.”


“I worked all my life.  What have I done to deserve this?”


“I only get $760 a month.  My rent is 500.  Now I have to pay $45 for my medicines.  Tell me—where am I going to get the money?”


These words haunt me, and they stay with me long after I leave my job in the evening.  These are terrible situations.  They should not be happening in the United States, the greatest country on Earth.  Why are we putting our most vulnerable citizens in dire circumstances?


Thank you very much.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Thank you.  I just had one question.  I wanted to highlight the fact that you said you’re doing this on a voluntary basis.  How did you hook up to be a volunteer?  I mean, it’s really great, and I want to thank you for doing that, because I found out—and we’ll talk more about this in the federal section—that there is a lot of reliance on volunteers, and I think that’s great.  But I personally feel there should have been more resources for paid counseling.  So, how did you hook up, and what did you see in terms of the number of people who are available to do counseling?


MS. ERISMANN:  Initially, when I started answering the calls, it was as a referral, especially for the Spanish-speaking.  But the HICAPs, for instance—if they called from the Los Angeles area, there was a ten-day callback from the HICAP offices in L.A.  Like, for instance, with Mr. Rivera and his insulin, I couldn’t send him to the local HICAP.  That’s ten days to get a call back.  The same thing with Monterey County or San Bernardino County.  I could not refer the person to the local HICAP.  They were taking three or four days to answer phones.  And it’s not the fault of the local HICAPs.  You know, they didn’t get any money or sufficient funds for the level of phone calls they were doing.  I am a professional staff at CHA, but I am also a HICAP volunteer, and I do this because there is a shortage of HICAP volunteers that speak Spanish.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Thank you.


Next we have Mr. Negrete from the Pharmacists Association.


MR. MICHAEL NEGRETE:  I thank you.  My name is Michael Negrete.  I’m a pharmacist and the vice president of clinical programs for the California Pharmacists Association on behalf of the approximately 6,000 pharmacies throughout the state that seek to provide care and medication to, particularly, dual eligibles—the patients who are in the Medicare Part D program.  I thank you all for having this hearing and for paying great attention to this really important issue.


Since the beginning of the year, pharmacists have been on the frontlines dealing with Medicare Part D, and we’ve actually been preparing for this for quite some time.  We knew about a year ago, if there was a chink in the armor, if there was a broken link of the chain anywhere related to the administration of the Part D program—where it was going to blow up, where the powder keg was going to explode—it was going to be at that pharmacy counter when you had a patient who needed a medication come in and they weren’t able to get it.  So, we’ve been working for a year trying to prepare pharmacies as best as we can to be able to take care of the folks that we knew were going to have some challenges.


One of the things that we did beginning in January is to put together a hotline for pharmacies and pharmacy staff people to be able to answer some questions.  That’s been a great source of intelligence for us regarding the kinds of problems and issues that the pharmacies are trying to deal with.  As you probably are very well aware, during the first couple of days, the biggest challenge was with the electronic ______.  The billing and eligibility system pretty much went down for a great majority of the time.  They fixed that—increased the bandwidth, I guess—and so, fortunately, then we started to be able to process some claims and get some eligibility information to the electronic systems.  Unfortunately, a lot of the data that was in those systems was not correct; wasn’t up to date.  We’ve got a saying in the pharmacy profession:  Our job as pharmacists is to make sure the right patient gets the right drug at the right time.  What we need for this program to work is to get the right data in the right place at the right time.  Unfortunately, there’s been a lag, and we haven’t been able to figure out how to make that happen yet.

Also because of that data, we’ve had problems with getting the right amounts—the co-pay amounts—for a lot of these dual eligibles.  Instead of $1 or $3 for a full-benefit dual, pharmacists have been told by the systems to charge the patient hundreds of dollars in some instances.  Unfortunately, a lot of people are confused and don’t understand it’s not the pharmacist who is the one telling them to pay $100—it’s the information that comes through the plan, because again, the data in the systems isn’t as current as it needs to be.


It’s important to know that pharmacists first and foremost are there to take care of the patients and make sure they get the medications at all costs—whatever they can manage to do.  I know a lot of pharmacists early in the year were going above and beyond.  They were having staff sit on telephones for hours at a time trying to get through to the plans.  That was the other problem:  the deficiencies in the electronic data and eligibility systems.  The only way to get the specifics a pharmacy needs to bill a claim was to go through the plan.  Well, they were overwhelmed with phone calls, and so, they weren’t able to answer calls in a very timely manner or at all.  A lot of times we would call and were met with busy signals or just simply hung up on or told to call back later.


Well, pharmacists, despite this, were oftentimes giving patients advanced supplies of medications or giving them loans of medications for three to five days, and this is something that’s fairly customary in urgent situations.  Unfortunately, with all of the problems in Medicare Part D in the beginning of the year, this was just unsustainable.  I know one pharmacist who spent about $30,000; gave out $30,000 worth of medications the first couple of days without having any idea whether or not they were going to get paid.  I know of another pharmacist up here in Sacramento to take a million-dollar line of credit because he had medications going out the door but no money coming in because he couldn’t get eligibility issues.  But that was the extent of what many of these pharmacists were trying to do to make sure their patients were taken care of.

Now, things have been getting better.  The systems have been improving; the data has been improving.  But unfortunately, there’s still a big backlog of problems for a lot of pharmacies.  In addition, new problems are coming in, and they’re coming in faster than pharmacists are able to resolve the old problems.  And this is really a cause-and-effect, where the pharmacists and the patients they’re caring for are pretty much drowning in a lot of these challenges they’re trying to deal with.  Thankfully, thanks to the Administration and the Legislature here in California, we got the Medi-Cal Emergency Program through a couple of weeks ago.  That was a very big help.  Thank you very much for that.  That’s made it sustainable.  It really acted as a life preserver to keep us afloat during this time.


I want to let you know that many challenges still exist.  I wanted to go over some quick numbers.  We did a quick survey—about 100 pharmacies throughout the state—to see how things are improving.  Seventy-five percent of pharmacies are still having problems identifying, to some extent, which plans patients are in.  Eighty percent of pharmacies are also experiencing difficulty processing claims for Medicare Part D.  More than 93 percent indicate that they’re still having problems contacting the plans through the call centers, and the problem seems to be pretty widespread.  We couldn’t find any plans that are necessarily doing any better or worse with the phone calls than other plans.  Generally, it’s a problem across the board.


Finally, just moving forward, we’re worrying about new problems that could arise as patients maybe switch plans at the end of January, as the dual eligibles can do.  We’re worried about how that transition is going to go in February.  We’re worried about co-pays.  A lot of duals cannot pay co-pays.  A lot of folks think pharmacists can waive them and just make them go away.  Unfortunately, they can’t waive them.  What they can choose to do, if possible, is to pay the co-pay for the patient.  That’s coming straight out of the pharmacy’s reimbursement.


I know I’m out of time, but I just also want to say that we need a system in place that makes sure that the pharmacists can provide the medications.  We need a system that will allow medications to be provided first and questions about billing and everything else to be asked later.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Mr. Negrete.  I have a question, but I’m going to hold off.  I know Senator Ducheny has a question.  I’m not sure if there are other colleagues.


Senator Ducheny?


SENATOR DENISE MORENO DUCHENY:  Before the other witness leaves—actually, it was partly for her because the other one left on me too.  

I’m hearing all of you, including the pharmacists, speak of the co-pay issue.  I’m wondering what the level of knowledge is and what the level of not having had it work out yet is on the Social Security side.  It has been our understanding—and we will ask this, in part, to the federal government—but I want to understand whether people are getting the message that those co-pays for the Medi-Medis are supposed to be covered by Social Security.  And there was supposed to be a system in place by which. . . . maybe Stan might . . .


MR. NEGRETE:  They’re supposed to be subsidized through the low-income subsidy, but not paid completely, and the subsidy goes down to, for a full-benefit dual eligible, a $1 co-pay for a generic drug and a $3 co-pay for a brand-name drug.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  So, even with the subsidy, it’s $1 and $3.


MS. ERISMANN:  One dollar for generic and up to $3 for brand-name medications.  You know, some of the dual eligibles take. . . . I have one gentleman that took 21 medications.  And he was on SSI.  So, think about what that $3 co-pay meant to that person living in Contra Costa County.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  So, SSI is not making up that difference for them.  They’re only making it up to the $1 or $3 per prescription, not per household or per . . . 


MS. ERISMANN:  No.  Per prescription.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  And to what extent—to the limited extent that that is available—to what extent are people being aware of that, or are you seeing people who did not receive notification from Social Security that they were eligible for that subsidy?


MS. ERISMANN:  The dual eligibles are aware that they’re only supposed to go and pay one to three dollars, but they get to the pharmacy and the pharmacy’s reading on the computer another amount.  So, many of them would walk away without the medication because the pharmacist reads in the plan. . . . you know, some would ask $30 for a medication.  I had another case that the inhaler was a $17 co-pay.

SENATOR DUCHENY:  Is that because it’s not cross-referenced with the Social Security or . . . 


MS. ERISMANN:  It has nothing to do with Social Security.  It has to do with the. . . 


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Well, but the Medicare, then, is not picking up the subsidy is the point, and I don’t know which system’s at fault.


MR. STAN ROSENSTEIN:  I’ll explain that in my testimony.

SENATOR DUCHENY:  Can you explain that one?  Thank you.


MS. ERISMANN:  May I?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just make sure.  Mr. Negrete, I know Mr. Rosenstein wants to clarify this.  Let’s let him do that.


MR. NEGRETE:  If I could make just one quick point.  There are two kinds of pharmacies that are being hugely impacted that a lot of folks don’t even know about.  That’s pharmacies that service long-term care facilities and pharmacies that do home infusion.  They are really in different worlds.  Unfortunately, we’re pulled into Part D, and a lot of the requirements that they’re up to and everything else just don’t work and very well under this Part D benefit, and that needs to be looked at as well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Did you want to respond to the Senator’s question?


MS. ERISMANN:  Social Security—what’s happening is once a low-income person is in a plan or a dual eligible, there is a formulary, and that formulary is in a computer.  So, when the person appears in front of the pharmacist, the pharmacist checks on the plan that that person is and checks in the computer what the plan says that person is supposed to pay.  So, for that reason, the pharmacy said, Well, the computer says that you have to pay $30 for an inhaler, and unless you have the $30, I’m not going to give you the inhaler because then I am going to be out of the $30.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that clarification.  I think the question was whether or not there is a Social Security supplement.  Let’s have Mr. Rosenstein clarify that.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Yes—Stan Rosenstein.


The way the program works—and I’ll tell you what happens and what causes this problem too.  The full-scope Medi-Cal beneficiaries’ nonshare of cost are supposed to automatically get a one- or three-dollar co-payment.  The exception to that is if you’re in a nursing home; then there’s no co-payment.  If you’re a share-of-cost eligible—or a number of our programs that go to a higher-income level—you get a three- or five-dollar co-payment.  Again, that’s supposed to be automatically set.  The low-income subsidy for everybody who was on Medi-Cal and share-of-costs were supposed to automatically occur.  Although, the share-of-cost individuals got the low-income subsidy automatically but did not get auto-assigned to a plan.  So, you may have share-of-cost eligibles out there who have the subsidy but aren’t in a drug plan.

What’s happening that’s causing people to get the wrong share-of-cost amount is if you call today a plan, if you are a dual eligible—or anybody—and say, I want to change plans; I want to enroll in your plan, they will assign you in what’s called their “basic plan,” not the dual-eligible plan.  They will send a transaction to CMS, and about fifteen days later, they will get a response.  So, anybody who changed a plan—and a lot of people did pre-January 1, and a lot of people did pre-today—will lose their low-income subsidy for at least two weeks and get a regular co-pay amount—or, may get a $250 deductible.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think there are probably further questions, but I know Senator Alquist had a question of this witness, and then we still have Mr. Rosenstein for his full presentation.


SENATOR ELAINE ALQUIST:  Thank you.

Having a 97-year-old husband as I do who’s always with me, I spend some time in pharmacies.  And it breaks my heart when I see the elderly needing to get prescriptions and being told either they don’t qualify or it’s five times more than they thought it would be.  I mean, I understand there can be database issues.  I chaired the Information Technology Committee years ago in the Assembly.  But, at the same time, I need to look at you, Mr. Negrete, and ask:  What is your proactive position to help these people during a very horrible time in their lives?  What’s your plan?


MR. NEGRETE:  Our plan is to do everything we can to educate the pharmacists to make sure they are aware of and know how to do the Medi-Cal Emergency Program right now.  The worst-case scenario for a dual eligible, they should be able to get the claim paid through that and give the patient their supply of medication.  In addition, whenever that’s not possible, for whatever reason, we always tell the pharmacist, If you can, spot the patient a few days’ worth of medication—as we heard in this story—to get them to the point where we can figure out how to get their medication paid for so we can give them the full medication supply.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  So, you’re saying that—and I’m not holding you liable on this or anything—but you’re saying basically that all pharmacists have been educated to understand that if an elderly person comes forward, they’re not in your database, or it’s for the wrong amount of the co-pay, that in each pharmacy there’s phone numbers where you can contact somebody who will, on the spot, help them and not return the call in ten days.

MR. NEGRETE:  We’ve been doing almost daily updates on Medicare Part D, letting people know at the hotline that we’ve got at the California Pharmacists Association.  We’ve been sending blast faxes, which is a great way to communicate with pharmacies.  We’ve been working through our chain partners, what’s called Provider Service Administrative Organizations.  Frankly, I don’t know what else we could do other than go and knock on doors; and actually, we’ve got people doing that, too, through some collaborations that we’ve got with wholesalers.

I think it’s important to know that pharmacies are in a tough spot, and they’re faced with many instances now with being able to provide somebody with medication now and not being able to provide any of their patients with any medications.  I can’t tell you how many pharmacists I have called and said, They’re a Mom and Pop.  They service a specific ethnic community.  They’re in a rural area.  And they’re saying, How do I sell?  How do I get out?  I’m losing my pants.  I can’t do this anymore.  Decreased reimbursement along with increased administrative burden and dealing with a lot of these issues is just breaking the back for a lot of people.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Thank you.


Marta, are you a resource for when people have these kinds of problems around the state?


MS. ERISMANN:  We get the phone calls through these 800 numbers.  The system drops the calls, so we have a very small—I guess a small grant to answer all these phone calls.  Well, we had 1,600 phone calls for Medicare Part D, plus 300 Spanish-speaking.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  In what period of time?


MS. ERISMANN:  Sixteen hundred—October through January; and 300 for December and January that were Spanish-speaking.  By the way, I did have someone that was Chinese that called, and I said, I don’t speak Chinese.  I just have but a list.  My daughter speaks English.  And so, we weren’t able to talk.  A lot of people just want to have a voice that talks to them.  And many times what I found out, there are people that are illiterate.  So, here I’m trying to give information on how to contact Medicare.  I can’t read and write.  People are homebound.

SENATOR ALQUIST:  I understand.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know Assemblymember Berg has a question, and we still have to hear from Mr. Rosenstein.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  I just have a comment because I had said earlier, Senator Alquist, that I had conducted four town hall meetings in my district during November/December.  Pharmacists who attended those four town hall meetings—each one had an attendance of over 200 people—had not yet been notified by Medicare.  The outreach piece to this and the staffing piece to this has been a huge problem.  I know just in one of my counties, there was one HICAP volunteer and three volunteers responsible for assisting 200,000 people.  So, there’s never been the kind of attention that. . . . I mean, I blame it all on the federal government because I think that the pharmacists have really tried, and it’s just been very difficult and very frustrating.  In my area there was—in all six counties—there was at least a week-and-a-half to two-weeks waiting period before a phone call could be returned and at least a three-week waiting period before an appointment could be made.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Unless there are further questions of committee members, our final speaker is Mr. Rosenstein, with the Department of Health Services, to give us his perspective on this challenge.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Good afternoon, chairs and members of the committees.  We’re now one month into the program.  It is the largest change in healthcare in the last forty years, and it is very challenging.


To their credit, the federal government is working very hard on this program to resolve the problems.  We are very concerned about the problems.  We do talk to the federal government constantly, expressing our concerns of the problems and what we believe are solutions to the problems that would resolve some of the problems in the Medicare Part D program.  And I’ll talk about the solution that we are recommending a little bit later because we think there is a solution to this problem that could be implemented fairly easily by the federal government.


We would not have done this program the way the federal government did.  It is a federal program.  For those of you who heard me in the last hearings, we would not have moved a million people who are dually eligible the first day of the program.  But that said, it was done.  The program is operational.  It’s our responsibility—all of us, I believe—to make it work, and that’s what the Department of Health Services and the Administration is committed to do.


The system has worked for most people, but for a lot of people it hasn’t worked for.  We’re not satisfied if it doesn’t work for one person.  We built contingency plans where we _____________ to the implementation because this was not. . . . frankly, it didn’t surprise us that we would have problems.  And we tried to build. . . . the process is we provided a 100-day supply under Medi-Cal before the transition.  People got those supplies in large numbers.  They will be running out of those supplies in a month or so.  


We operated a command center that addressed beneficiary concerns and provider concerns.  We were open January 1st.  We are there when people need us.  We quickly responded to problems.  We did have a few minor problems in our system the first couple of days, but I’m happy to say, since early January, our programs and our systems have run error-free.  We are in daily contact with the pharmacies, CMS, and the advocates, as well as the health plans.  And most importantly, last December, in anticipation of this, we had our fiscal intermediary EDS program—this backup system that we’re now talking about; the emergency system.  So, we were ready to go in the event we needed it.  We certainly hoped we didn’t need it, but we had it ready.  As it was discussed already, when we discovered that people weren’t getting their drugs, the Governor, the Legislature, and the legislative leadership moved very quickly.  We had an emergency program in place.  We have legislation in place, and I thank you all for working on it and your passage.  Under state statute February 11th, we are discussing within the Administration and with leadership in the Legislature what kind of extension—or should we extend the program?  So, those discussions are underway.

The Governor feels very strongly that he’s not going to let people who are dually eligible not get their prescription medications.  So, we are very committed to making sure that people get their medications.  We’re also very committed to make sure the State of California gets fully reimbursed for our cost of providing this care.  California cannot afford to pay for this program.  It’s not our responsibility; it’s a federal responsibility.  I am one of two state Medicaid directors nationally who’re heading up the negotiations with the federal government, and you can rest assured we’re not going to be satisfied until we get full reimbursement for this program from the federal government.


The system is improving.  There are still problems, and I’ll tell you about the problems we’ve seen and then talk about the problems we anticipate seeing.  There are still problems for people who are dually eligible who are not enrolled in plans.  This occurs in a number of places.  This might be people. . . . like San Mateo County, we had 900 people in San Mateo County who were in no plan.  We have people who are newly dually eligible who are not in plans.  We believe there will always be a group of people who won’t be in a plan given the timing.


There is still incorrect eligibility information in the Medicare system.  The system is not only too complicated, but it has to feed through Medicare to the health plans, back to Medicare, back to the health plans and various vendors.  There are numerous places that this computer data goes, and it can get lost.  The incorrect co-payment amounts I talked about, there are people who are not getting the drugs they’re entitled to under the plans—transition plans.  While they have improved, the phone systems of the plans are not always accessible.

We believe that there will be problems that will be encountered—new problems—starting today.  Today is a new month.  We have 10,000-plus new dual eligibles in the Medi-Cal/Medicare program today.  None of those are in health plans today.  They won’t be in health plans for probably three or four weeks.  We believe there will be problems for anybody who changes their plan.  They will lose their low-income subsidy, and we’ll have new people—we don’t know how many—who change their plans who will get high co-payments.  We believe that the transition processes will run out and people will not be able to get the drugs they need as these transition plans run out.


We have asked CMS for data to measure this.  I want to stress the importance of data.  We don’t have data now to measure the program.  All of us need data to know what’s going on.  We have come here with a solution.  We have proposed two weeks ago to the federal government—they have a system which is run by WellPoint, which is what I call their fail-safe system:  When all else fails, you can bill this WellPoint system.  I think it’s processed over half a million claims.  That system could be used to resolve all of these errors.  We’ve asked CMS to do that.

Lastly, we are concerned about the clawback issues that were mentioned in the lawsuit.  The Administration is working with the Attorney General on that lawsuit, and we are seeking reimbursement.  We hope to get it without having to finally file a lawsuit, but we are working on that issue.

Again, it is very important that this program work correctly and that no one go without their drugs.


SENATOR WES CHESBRO:  Madam Chair?—when you get a chance.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just thank Mr. Rosenstein for his testimony.  I know I have questions, but let’s hear from other committee members first.


Senator Chesbro.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Mr. Rosenstein, like, I think, every legislator here, I voted to do this.  We absolutely had to do it, and I felt very strongly about it.  But I’m also the Budget chair.  So, what can you tell me about how the costs have rolled out compared to what was predicted at the time that we took these steps to make sure that people were covered?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Well, for once in our lives we overestimated a cost.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  That’s a relief.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  And we’ve spent about $15 million so far, not the 150 that was appropriated.  So, that looks good.  At this stage into discussions, the federal government is telling us that we will be fully reimbursed for all of those costs and that we should be able to get that money back this fiscal year.  We are pressing that very hard.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  That’s a good question.  Our fiscal year or their fiscal year?  Do you know?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  I’m sorry?


SENATOR CHESBRO:  During our fiscal year?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  The state fiscal year.  Remember, Medi-Cal’s on a cash basis, so we need cash in hand to close our budget.  So, we’re looking for cash in hand before June 30th.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, my experience from budget hearings is that usually, if it sounds too good to be true, it probably is; but let’s hope that all of that optimistic news turns out to pan out.

MR. ROSENSTEIN:  There’s challenges to get us there, but that is our goal.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Assemblymember Berg, Assemblymember De La Torre, and Assemblymember Chan.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  I have two questions; one for you, Stan, and one for you, Michael.


I guess I need to hear from you, Stan, in terms of what further steps you believe DHS needs to be taking in order to provide assistance to the dual eligibles—10,000 new Medi-Medies—which we’ll see as of today.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  That is an enormous challenge because these people are accustomed to Medi-Cal.  They may or may not know they’ve gone on Medicare, and they probably don’t know this program.  We are looking at what kinds of education we can do.  As of today, we haven’t terminated any of their eligibility because we haven’t given them the proper notices.  But you’re right on—it’s a challenge for these 10,000 people a month, and part of the challenge is, generally, they’re not identified until late in the month that they’re going to be eligible next month.  That’s why we haven’t terminated their Medi-Cal drug coverage. 


It’s a very good question.  I don’t know if I have a good answer because we’re looking at that right now.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  Obviously, what I care about is fixing the problem, so I care about what kind of plan DHS is going to have and what kind of plan it will implement and how we could be helpful.

The second question, Madam Chair, is for Michael Negrete.  There have been reports of patients who have been denied drugs by pharmacists due to misinformation, basically, about their Part D eligibility, even though they have demonstrated eligibility.  So, the question is:  How well has the process worked for billing WellPoint/Anthem—Medicare Part D’s payer of last resort—and DHS?  And, after February 11, when the state stops providing payment, unless there’s another extension, do you expect the current problems are going to continue?  Stan does.  Do you?


MR. NEGRETE:  Yes, I do.  The first part of your question is:  How well is the WellPoint contingency program working and then the Medi-Cal program?  They seem to be working fairly well.  Pharmacists are very conservative, careful people.  We have a saying called “death by decimal”:  You get the decimal point one place too far left or right, you could end up killing somebody.  So, they’re very careful people.  They’re likely not to go ahead and put money through the state or bill WellPoint unless they’re sure it has to be done.  A lot of folks are more likely, like I said, to advance people a few days’ supply of medication and hope they can get the problem solved right the first time.  That could be part of the reason why the budget expectations for the Medi-Cal contingency program are less than projected.  

But generally, when they need to be done, it seems to be working okay.  We’ve haven’t heard many complaints.  I’ve had to walk people through their specific electronic systems in certain instances to get it to work, but for the most part, it seems to be fairly functional.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me remind the speakers and my colleagues that we are actually twenty-or-so minutes over on this segment.  We have two other questions from committee members, and we do want to hear from all the speakers.  But thank you.


Assemblymember De La Torre?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  Thank you.  

Stan, you mentioned that you’re negotiating to get our money back, and I’d like to get into a little more detail.  And I’m glad to hear that you’re working with the Attorney General.  To put a little twist on Ronald Reagan’s quote of “trust but verify,” I think in our case it’s “trust but litigate.”  We need to get this money back.  You just mentioned that you thought in this fiscal year we’ll get the money back, so give us an overview of the negotiations.

MR. ROSENSTEIN:  And there’s two money issues, to be clear.  One is what’s called the “clawback,” which is the amount we’re paying the federal government of our savings.  We’re supposed to get 10 percent savings.  We’re spending over $50 million a year more than what cost is.  That’s what the Attorney General is working on.  And I don’t want to mislead anybody—I’m not committing to getting that money back this year.  We have been working for over a year to get that resolved, unsuccessfully, and we’re still continuing to press the federal government for resolution.


The money I was referring to this year is the payment of the emergency program.  The way it is set up as of this moment is we would send a computer tape, which is no big deal, and an invoice to the federal government, and they would fully reimburse us, is the way it’s to be set up right now.  That’s what we are shooting for:  getting the money back this year.  I don’t know if we’ll ever get the clawback money back.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  When we heard the legislation that put the money in—the backfill, if you want to call it that—you didn’t go into any detail at that point, but you said there would be additional problems in February.  Are those the two that you just mentioned:  the new dual eligibles coming on and the loss of subsidy in the switch?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  That’s correct, and then, that will, I believe, cause problems in the pharmacies.  It’ll back them up.  It’ll back the plans’ phone lines up, and we’ll see a ripple effect.  It don’t know when it’ll start, but it could start as early as today.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  But those were the two problems that you were referring to back then—two weeks ago.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  That’s correct.  And I believe those problems, unless the system is resolved, will occur every month.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  On the beginning of the month.  


Finally, what is the Administration’s response to the issue of the gap between January 1st and January 12th, where pharmacists and beneficiaries paid for medication because of the system errors and everything?  How are those people going to be made whole?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  We work very closely with some of the advocacy groups, and the message that we’ve sent out is that anybody who made payment should go back to their pharmacy with as much Medicare information as they have—their Medi-Cal card.  They should ask the pharmacy to re-bill Medicare.  If Medicare doesn’t pay, they can bill our system, and the pharmacy can refund the excessive co-pay.  And I believe that message has gone out to the advocates already.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  And those dollars are coming from the 150 million?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  That is correct.  Those are the claims.  We wouldn’t see the difference.  We will pay for a drug prescription _________ before the 12th.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  And this isn’t really a question; it’s just a request.  Hopefully, at some point we’re going to get out of the thick of this mess.  I’d be very interested to see the issue that Ms. Erismann mentioned earlier, which was people who didn’t get their medications because of this problem ending up getting hospitalized, and us, through Medi-Cal, having to foot the bill for that hospitalization.  I would be very interested a couple of months down the road to look back and see how much more the state had to pay in terms of those hospitalizations that wouldn’t have happened if this mess hadn’t started in the first place.  So, that’s something during the budget process I certainly will come back to you on.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  What actually happened, these are people enrolled in Medicare.  All Medi-Cal pays for Medicare eligibles for hospitalization is the deductible.  So, we would have paid the deductible in those cases.  Typically, we pay the deductibles the first of the year anyhow.  In the long term, over a year it’s probably not going to cost us anymore money because most of the costs will be borne by Medicare.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  We have Senator Cox, Assemblymember Chan, and then. . . . or excuse me.  I think Assemblymember Chan wanted to close.  So, I’m going to ask Senator Cox and then Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR COX:  Thanks very much, Madam Chair.  


It seems to me—and I apologize; I excused myself for a moment, and maybe you’ve already addressed this—but it seems to me that with the number of people that you have participating and the work that needs to be done, the time that. . . . the most recent emergency legislation was not sufficient to take care of the problem.  That’s correct?

MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Well, I think so.  At the time, I think people were just willing to go a short time to see if the problems would begin, and then assess it now, as we’re doing.


SENATOR COX:  Here’s my question.  You’ve got somebody today working on whether or not we ought to be doing a legislative extension—or can the Administration do it administratively?  I’m talking about the state.  Can you do it administratively?  It just seems to me that we’d be much better off to try to do this as quickly as possible, to add more days on than we actually think that we need, and move ahead with it so we don’t find ourselves in a crunch.  

I’m not particularly excited about the fact of asking the pharmacists to pick up the costs out of their pocket.  Many of them are just small business people; that their cash flow is just as important to them as it is to other people.  I’m very concerned about that element.  So, where are we in that?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  We share your concerns.  The Governor’s Office has got a meeting tomorrow set with staff of the legislative leadership to talk about this issue.  So, I believe tomorrow—I’m not sure of the exact time—we’ll have a meeting in the Governor’s Office on this exact issue with all of your staff.  


SENATOR COX:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  I read that there were a number of problems that arose because the basic plan that was put into effect may cover the drugs but not the delivery system for the drugs.  Durable goods or equipment that might be needed to take the drugs.  Is that the case?  And, if so, where does that put the state in terms of our responsibility?  Or what we can do?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  This is a very complicated part of the program.  The delivery mechanisms, especially for in-home infusion, is not part of Medicare Part D.  It’s covered by Medi-Cal.  Medi-Cal’s still covering it.  But that does mean that these pharmacies have to split their bill.  So, that’s the issue.  But there’s nothing that was covered before that’s not covered, but Medi-Cal does the delivery part of it.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, some of the anecdotal stories about people who went to get their drugs off the new system but didn’t know how to get the delivery system could just be confusion in the pharmacy?

MR. NEGRETE:  Yes.  There’s a lot of confusion.  I mean, you’re talking to people who are making IVs for people to be able to infuse at home so they don’t have to be in the hospital, and you’re looking at situations where half the things are billed to Part B, half of them are billed to Part D, and half of the supplies are billed to Medi-Cal.  It’s really a nightmare, and these are situations of very acute patients.  A lot of times you’ll need a drug that needs to be provided to that patient in an hour, and it’s prior auth by the plan, and they say, Well, it’s a three-day turnaround—a prior authorization.  The system is not designed for those kinds of environments.

SENATOR KUEHL:  No, I know.  And some people have been referred, you know, It’s best you go in the hospital because we don’t know what to do about that.  I’m assuming that there’s some attempt to clarify, I guess, with pharmacies, because certainly, the people themselves are not really going to understand that.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Yes, we’re working with the Pharmacists Association on a provider bulletin on this.  Those items can be billed to Medi-Cal under the emergency program.  That’s what we’re recommending to a number of pharmacists to do right now.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I have a couple of questions, and then we’ll move right into the federal section and move ourselves along.


Stan—and I’m going to ask the feds this too—there’s a February 15th deadline in terms of the last day that the federal government will reimburse us, the states, for money they put out.  Do you think that’s an issue that we’re going to have to negotiate with the federal government?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  We’re negotiating it now.  The way the federal government is stating it is that it’s February 15th—or a later date if extended by Secretary Leavitt.  Certainly, we believe that it’s going to have to be extended.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  And then the other thing is, just quickly—this is something that I’d like them to hear too—in terms of other resources to make the program work—I know, for instance, in Alameda County, the health department has put in $200,000 of county money to help do the outreach and to pay for counselors, et cetera.  So, it seems like there’s some other costs associated with making this plan work.  Is that part of the negotiations?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Well, actually, right now, it may be too late to help them particularly, but they’ll pay for the outreach cost, part of the administrative cost.  The problem is, we didn’t know it in advance, so people haven’t staffed up.  But we will get reimbursed for what we’ve spent for outreach to resolve this problem.  It doesn’t do any good because nobody knew we were going to get it in advance.  But outreach is a fundamental issue that we need to look at.  I know the Department of Aging is looking at that right now.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  So, you’re saying, just to be clear, there is a pot of money available for that?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  The federal government’s going to reimburse us for our cost of outreach incurred during this emergency period.  So, we will be able to bring in federal money, but I’m not sure how we’ll use that money.  It’ll come in much later than when it’s needed, unfortunately; and nobody knew . . . 


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Does that trickle down to the locals who are doing it?  Or how is DHS dealing with that?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  We haven’t gotten that far yet.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  All right.  Thank you very much.


Now we’ll move on to the federal panel.  We have two people here.  We have Jeff Flick, the regional administrator, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, Region IX; and Calise Muñoz, regional director, Region IX, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.  Thank you for being here today.  


I do want to mention that I did speak to Mr. McClellan on the phone at one o’clock.  He, unfortunately, couldn’t be with us but said that you would answer all our questions.


MS. CALISE MUÑOZ:  We will do our best.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Is Mr. Flick going first, or are you?


MS. MUÑOZ:  I’m going to start off, if you don’t mind.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Great.


MS. MUÑOZ:  Chairs and members, thank you very much for having us today.  My name is Calise Muñoz.  I’m regional director for the federal Department of Health and Human Services, Region IX.  We’re based in San Francisco.  On behalf of Secretary Leavitt and Administrator McClellan, we appreciate this opportunity to discuss this very important change in this program—the biggest change in forty years.


As you know, over 24 million Americans are now enrolled, and we’re filling over one million scripts per day because of this Part D change.  For the first time ever, beneficiaries are now receiving prescription drugs to help them with healthier lives.  Those are the good realities.  The negative realities are some of the things you heard today based on data information issues, collection information issues from the duals to the plans, and the very real realities that we heard, as in the case of your constituent, Tracy Patterson, and the issues she faced when she went to the pharmacy for the first time.  I just want to let the committee, and especially Ms. Patterson, know that the federal government is doing everything in their power, working night and day, to ensure that we are taking care of those issues, solving the problems, and making sure that the system is going to run smoother now and in the future.


As you mentioned, Secretary Leavitt has been to the state.  He came personally to meet with Governor Schwarzenegger about two weeks ago.  It was one of the first states he went to in order to meet personally with the Governor and the leadership in California to make commitments to the state that we would address the issues that he was raising, especially in terms of state reimbursement and also some of the specific solutions such as Mr. Rosenstein addressed in the WellPoint system, which we’ll get into in a little bit more detail.  But just to let you know again, Secretary Leavitt did make those specific commitments to the Governor, and we definitely intend to stand by those commitments.


As was stated by many of the witnesses, it is getting better on a daily basis.  We are seeing more of the information being shared, more of the plans staffing up and having better response times, and the pharmacists also have been wonderful partners in getting educated and helping us with the beneficiaries who are often very confused about the new program.  

But we are very mindful at this point, it is February 1st, and we are going into another situation where there is potentially a new batch, especially the dual eligibles, coming in who will have the same data issues, the same inaccurate co-pays.  And again, I want to assure the committee we are working with all of our partners, including the State of California, to ensure that we can correct those problems proactively so we don’t continue to face them.

I want to save the bulk of the time because I know you have a lot of questions and comments.  I want to turn it over to my colleague, Mr. Jeff Flick.


MR. JEFF FLICK:  Thank you.  Thank you, Calise.  And thank you to all of the members here this afternoon.  We’re delighted to be here.  And believe me, we know this is a very, very serious and a very important issue.


I think probably, as all of you are aware, the unfortunate reality in this country for all Medicare beneficiaries is this isn’t the first time we’ve heard about people having a tough choice:  Can they afford the medicines that they need or the pills or the food or the rent or what have you?


This change is really helping a very large number of people.  It’s important that we keep that in mind.  There was no prescription drug benefit available through the Medicare program for forty years.  For forty years we’ve all heard the stories.  We’ve all heard people just like Ms. Patterson.  It breaks my heart, it breaks your hearts too—I know it does—when people struggle to try to get the medicines they need.  There was no mechanism in the Medicare program to cover outpatient prescription drug benefits until January 1.  On January 1, 24 million people have coverage.  Three million people in the State of California have coverage.  The vast majority of those people are having no difficulty whatsoever.  They’re getting the medicines they need.  In many cases, people have coverage who never had it before and who couldn’t get access to their medicines before.  

That’s all great, but I want to focus on those individuals that are having trouble, and the individuals that are having trouble unfortunately tend to be the full-benefit dual eligibles.  And so, we’ve analyzed this and we’ve looked at this.  

There are about 300,000 individuals who change plans very close to the end of the month, and those are the individuals that are having the most difficulty.  We are doing everything in our power to address that and fix that and solve these problems.  

The problems are largely embedded in systems.  When all of the right information is in the computer, as you’ve heard Michael say, everything works very well, very smoothly.  When the right information is not in the computer, that’s when people have issues.  


I want to personally thank all of you and the State of California.  I think it’s a very good thing what the state did—stepping up and being the payer so that no one goes without prescription medications who is a full-benefit dual eligible in the State of California.  Other states have done the same thing.  I want to emphasize the full commitment of the federal government:  We will reimburse the State of California for all their costs—and all the states for all the costs that they incurred to step up and help out.  


I want to reiterate what my colleague, Calise, has mentioned.  The pharmacists in this state, I think, by and large have done an incredible job.  They’ve worked with us very, very well, as have the physicians, as have the HICAP organizations, as have the advocates.  There is a very large community of people who care an awful lot, and those people are working every single day, including my staff—161 federal employees who work in the regional office in San Francisco.  We are working every single day—seven days a week, nonstop—until we are sure that every person who is in this program is able to get the medicines that they need.  We’ve had the privilege of doing casework one by one by one, including me.  It is a privilege to be able to reach out to people who have had trouble and help them and fix those problems.  But—our focus is on fixing the problems that are inherent in the systems.  Once that’s done, this program operates very, very smoothly.

So, I think we have our eye on the ball.  I think you’ve heard people say it gets better every single day.  That’s true.  We are pushing as hard as we can to make sure that these issues are resolved absolutely as quickly as possible.  I think that you’ve heard Secretary Leavitt express this.  We believe these system issues will be addressed by February 15th, but if they’re not addressed, I’m sure the Secretary will do the right thing, as he has so far.

I want to talk a little bit about some of the other issues that are inherent in the legislation itself.  I know there’s been some concern about co-pays, and I know this is a new thing in the State of California.  And there’s been some concern about the whole transition of the full-benefit dual eligibles.  I think it’s important for everyone in this room to understand that there were about thirteen states who, prior to the implementation of MMA, had limits on how many drugs full-benefit dual eligibles could get.  They simply didn’t have enough money to pay for all of these drugs.  And so, in those thirteen states around the country, people faced these limits of, You can get six drugs but not seven, or You can get seven drugs but not eight.  Obviously, all those limits are gone.  Now with this program, everyone should be getting all of the medicines they need, in every state in the country.


There’s a lot to talk about.  These are serious issues.  We’re here because we want to listen to you, respond to you, and be as helpful as we can.  With that, I’ll turn it over to questions.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Senator Alquist?


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Thank you.


Where does it say in writing that the federal government will reimburse the State of California one hundred percent for its costs in providing, basically, this bridge funding for Californians who cannot afford to pay for their medication?


MR. FLICK:  These commitments to one hundred percent pay for this were made both by Secretary Leavitt and by Administrator McClellan.  To be honest with you, I’m not sure that they’re in writing anywhere.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  My question is:  Where is it in writing?  Because if it’s verbal, verbal is verbal and in writing is in writing.


MR. FLICK:  I think as you heard Stan indicate earlier, Stan is working with a committee of people that is developing the template to make this happen.  I’m not sure that there’s a written document that I can hand you today, but I do know these commitments are very real.  I think Stan Rosenstein will tell you the same thing.  The commitments come from the very highest levels.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  So, basically what you’re saying, to the best of your ability, is there’s no place in writing that says that the State of California will be reimbursed one hundred percent for everything it’s doing in providing this bridge funding for medication for Californians who cannot afford to pay for it.


Is that what you’re saying to us?


MS. MUÑOZ:  Again, the Secretary and the administrator publicly made an announcement at a national press conference, issued a press release, and said that they are working through—essentially, it’s a Medicare waiver system.  It’s a complex procedure that we’re working off of in order to get this funding out to the states as quickly as possible.  But it was very much a commitment, and the wheels are turning as we speak:  working with the states, working with the Medicaid directors, to get the reimbursement system in place.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  My final comment:  I am an optimist, but I am also 61 years old and a grandmother, and I sure hope that the federal government will put in writing that it will reimburse the State of California one hundred percent for all the money it’s putting in for this bridge funding for Californians who can’t afford to pay for their drugs.  Please.


Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Senator Ducheny?


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Thank you very much, Madam Chairman.


Let me just go back to the beginning because we heard these issues in subcommittee last year.  Prior to the 150 million that we put up to try to cover this, last year we put up 4 million to HICAP for doing outreach, another 4 million straight up for outreach, $93 million to bridge prescription drug coverage, because we saw this problem coming to some degree.  We tried to deal with it for our Medi-Cal patients.  We had already put 93 million up, and now that didn’t seem to be enough, partly because there were issues of notices and such.  I think a lot of people didn’t pick up the 90-day coverage that we offered, which led us to this next round that we’re doing.  And we earmarked more than $12 million for transition for persons with disabilities and such because, again, as some of the others testified, the nursing program and all of that.

I guess I’m sort of going back to—and since you’re all here—what on earth got people. . . . or what was the purported logic of doing this?  This program now—I get that it’s helping some people who are not on Medi-Cal.  I think we almost have to separate out the non-Medi-Cal piece of this and the Medicare.  In theory—although we haven’t heard as much from them yet because the deadline’s not until May—in theory, for some folks who did not have other prescription drug coverage, this may in fact be a savings.  But in the dual-eligible world, it’s costing the federal government more, it’s costing the state government more, and it’s costing the individual more.


What was the thinking behind that?


MR. FLICK:  Let me address the committee.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  We’re all broke, and we’re all paying more than we were last year for the same drugs.


MR. FLICK:  At least part of the issue, as I understand it—and please understand, this is not CMS.  CMS didn’t pass the legislation. 


SENATOR DUCHENY:  They lobbied for it.  They argued for it.  You were present—I mean, not you personally.  I get you’re not the Washington guy.  But CMS and the White House did support this.  It was their proposal.  They presented cost estimates to Congress.


MR. FLICK:  I believe among the things that the Congress was looking at is they wanted a consistent national program.  They wanted people, no matter where they live in the United States of America, if they are a full-benefit dual eligible, if they are entitled to Medicare and to Medicaid, they wanted them to have a consistent benefit that allowed them to get all of the medicines that they needed, no matter where they happen to live in the United States of America.  The reality is, there are differences from state to state.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  And now you’re asking Californians to subsidize Mississippi again?


MR. FLICK:  I can only comment on what I . . . 


SENATOR DUCHENY:  No offense to Mississippi if they need it.  


MR. FLICK:  I can only comment on what I understand the Congress considered.  They wanted a consistent benefit for everyone in the United States, no matter where they lived.  They did not want people to have arbitrary limits.  They did not want people to only get six drugs or seven drugs or eight drugs or whatever it happens to be.  They wanted these individuals who they recognized as being generally vulnerable, generally low-income, to be able to get access to all of the medicines that they need.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Except they’re now depriving Californians who had twenty drugs.  They moved them down to seven because they can’t afford the co-pays.  I mean, the opposite result is occurring in this state, and my understanding from other colleagues, at least twenty others are having the problem of this program costs not only the state more with respect to you inhibiting our ability to get drug rebates, which apparently were better than the ones you’re getting for Medicare—which I don’t understand—and charging us for the privilege with this clawback business, and then charging our constituents in a way which is going to force them into our emergency rooms and on our nursing care systems and such because they’re not going to be able to purchase the drugs they could get last week.


At what point is somebody going to figure out how to rewrite this legislation? is what I’m mostly concerned about.


MR. FLICK:  Let me just make one quick comment.  I don’t think we’re here to discuss the clawback, but there are differences in opinion about this.  There are enormous savings that the State of California is realizing through their retiree program.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Our LAO says it’s $300 million—cost, not savings.  I’d love to see those.

MR. FLICK:  We have different information.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  We will invite you to the budget subcommittee hearings to tell us where those savings are because we haven’t seen them yet.


MR. FLICK:  That’s fine.  


With regard to the co-pays, I do want to make one comment.  The co-pays for most people are $1 and $3:  $1 for generic or preferred brand; $3 for brands that are not preferred.  And I think there’s more education to be done on this issue.  There are, I know, beneficiaries who believe that they have to pay $3 a month, or $36 a year, in co-pays for every prescription drug that they take.  In fact, there are options here.  There may very well be an option to use either a generic drug or a preferred brand drug.  That obviously lowers the $3 down to $1.  There are also options to work with 90-day prescriptions instead of a prescription every month.  So, the range in co-payments can be as high as $36 per year; can be as low as $4 per year.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Well, it could be as high as $36 a day if you have twenty drugs you’ve got to take.  I mean, a month per drug. 

MR. FLICK:  Well, $36 per drug per year.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Per drug.


MR. FLICK:  Right.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Well, it’s not per drug per year; it’s per prescription.  Right?


MR. FLICK:  Right.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  So, if I get a 30-day prescription and I’m one of those folks that has to take twenty drugs and I’m on SSI, getting $800 a month, you’re asking me to pay $20 per month.  That would be $150 out of my. . . . I mean, that’s 10 percent of my income if I’m an SSI recipient.


MR. FLICK:  The point I’m making is it can be as high as $36 per drug per year.  You are right.  It can be as low as . . . 


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Per month.


MR. FLICK:  Well, if you take one drug . . .


SENATOR DUCHENY:  No, I see.  Thirty-six per drug per year.


MR. FLICK:  Exactly.  Or $4 per drug per year.  There’s a range.  I just want to make sure that this group understands there is a range and that there are some things beneficiaries can do to lower co-payments if they want.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  But last year it was free.


MR. FLICK:  That’s correct.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  So, for us, no matter what it is, it’s more than it was last year.


MR. FLICK:  That’s correct.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  And—the state Medi-Cal program is also paying more.  So, I’m back to sort of . . . 


MR. FLICK:  Again, we dispute that, but I’m happy to come back.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  I’m happy to hear if there’s an improvement to that, but I think we want to make the point that we think people ought to be relooking at this statute and this program because whoever invented it—it’s just hard to even imagine how somebody came up with something as unhelpful and convoluted as this.


I’m also wondering—you said you had 161 people in your region.  I appreciate you all must be working overtime, triple time.  I get all that.  How big is your region?


MS. MUÑOZ:  That’s CMS employees.  We actually have over 500 employees that are in other divisions, such as Administration on Aging.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Okay.  The ones that are working on this . . . 


MS. MUÑOZ:  Well, I think we all are.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Is the region just California, or is the region like the West Pacific region?


MS. MUÑOZ:  Region IX is California, Arizona, Nevada, Hawaii, and the outer Pacific territories.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Okay.  I guess it goes to why our phones are so overloaded and all of us are wasting $400 on the phone waiting for you all to answer the phone.  I mean, it’s not your fault, but did the legislation at all contemplate staffing up for this purpose?  We were forced to staff up on outreach and HICAP volunteers, and we did as much as we could to add to, but we did assume you would have some volunteers and some research or some outreach.  And I’m telling you, in my area—you know, God bless the one person you have down there, but she doesn’t speak Spanish and she doesn’t speak Vietnamese and frankly has no help that does.  We’ve had to put all that up locally or through volunteers or through doctors or through pharmacists.


MR. FLICK:  Let me comment.  I appreciate very, very much, and I will be the first person to admit, I think California has done an incredible job.  I think you’ve reached out in all the responsible ways.  I think Stan and his group have been wonderful to work with.  The HICAP organizations—wonderful to work with.  Obviously, at CMS we did staff up.  We went from about 3,000 operators at our   1-800 service to about 8,000.  So, we invested pretty heavily.  But it’s a very big piece of work, and we have a lot of people helping us, and those people deserve a lot of credit.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Do you know now what the current wait time is on that 800 number?


MR. FLICK:  In fact, we do.  We keep statistics.  We monitor that very carefully.  It’s down to an average of about three minutes right now.  But there were times when it went up.  And so, we monitor it very carefully.  We’re doing two things with that service:  We’ve created a hotline for pharmacies; so we have part of the staff answering phones for pharmacists that are having issues or problems or concerns . . . 


SENATOR DUCHENY:  And some of them were talking about waiting on the phone for hours also.


MR. FLICK:  And then, part of the staff is for beneficiaries.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  And is your website still blowing out during the middle of the day?  I mean, people are trying to go up and sign on, and we’re hearing a lot of, And the website crashes.


MR. FLICK:  Yes.  I mean, there’s been a couple of times when we had difficulties with the website, but by and large, the website is working very well.  Handling 24 million applications is a piece of work, but I think there’s an indication that a lot of people have enrolled.  We’ve been able to do a lot of work, but it’s still a serious challenge.  The system issues are tough.  I will tell you that.  They’re tough.  And we’re moving a lot of data around for 24 million people.  The Medicare computers are talking to the Social Security computers, which are talking to the state computers, which are talking to the plan computers.  It’s a serious piece of work.  

We expected some issues here, folks.  We didn’t think this was going to go flawlessly.  I think, however, it’s safe to assume the issues were a little bit bigger than we thought they were going to be.  But we acted very fast.  I think you heard Michael talk about the E-1 query.  The very first day we really had some trouble with that.  We put four servers on line in about four hours and fixed it super fast.


So, we’re doing a lot.  We’re going to keep doing a lot.  I can’t tell you how strong the determination is to get this right and to make sure this works for every single person.

SENATOR DUCHENY:  And I appreciate the efforts that you’re making now.  I guess I’m a little concerned—and maybe we explored it in some later hearings—and I know that at the moment we’re in the crisis emergency mode and everybody’s trying to go back and do this, but I’m really concerned with the fundamental flaws in how this system was designed and whether we can fix those in the longer term—and these issues of funding.  

I have now, just recently, seen a letter from some federal legislative leadership to other federal legislative leadership suggesting that Congress did not know all of the financial implications of what they were voting on, if that is true there—even more so here, although we analyzed what we thought was going to be the cost to us.  But it appears that either there were faulty analyses or some information that had been withheld from some members of Congress.  I just think we ought to be considering going back and looking at what was the point of this program?  If the point was not to cost everybody more money—which I can’t imagine that would have been the point of a federal program when they’re in deficit to the level they are—then we’ve got to find a way to change that to help all of us.  I don’t know what it is, but I think we need to go back to some _________ because there wasn’t enough thinking about what’s the staff needs? what’s the outreach needs?—you know, what’s going to be the thing?  We all tried to make up for that when we could, and we underestimated the problem, too, in our ability to get ready for it.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Okay.  I’d like to move on to some other members.  


Senator Cox.


SENATOR COX:  Madam chair, thank you.  I just have a couple of questions.  Mr. Flick, thank you very much for coming today, sir.


I want to try to get my arms around this if I can relative to the. . . . I want to understand the federal government’s assurance and the Secretary’s assurance that the State of California will be reimbursed.  Can I assume that that which was from the CMS (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services)—a fact sheet dated January 24, 2006—is the essence of your agreement that says the State of California will be reimbursed?  Can I assume that that’s the substance of your assurance that we’re going to be reimbursed?

MR. FLICK:  There’s a press release that I think says it more succinctly than the piece of paper that you’re holding, but . . . 


SENATOR COX:  But essentially, this state reimbursement—the states that meet the conditions will have their full drug cost-benefits reimbursed.  That’s what this says.


MR. FLICK:  That’s correct.


SENATOR COX:  And that’s your assertion today.


MR. FLICK:  That is correct.


SENATOR COX:  Mr. Flick, let me just ask you a couple more questions because, as I said, I’m trying to get my arms around this.  It seems to me that we do in fact have a situation where there are going to be a whole bunch of folks who will be paying significantly less than they were paying prior to this enactment.  It looks to me like it’s almost 40 million in the United States that this particular benefit encompasses.  Is that correct, sir?


MR. FLICK:  That’s very close.  It’s about 42 million people are eligible for this benefit program.


SENATOR COX:  Nationwide there’s about 7 or 8 million people that are covered under either a state program or a federal program?


MR. FLICK:  Yes.  The actual figures there are about 9 million people nationwide that have what we call “creditable coverage,” meaning that the coverage is as good as the Medicare prescription drug coverage.  That breaks down to about 3.1 million involved in federal programs—some have got the VA and the DoD—and 6 million and change that are covered through employers or labor unions that have applied for the subsidy that’s available through this program.


SENATOR COX:  So, it’s about a 5 to 1 ratio there.


MR. FLICK:  Right.


SENATOR COX:  With this particular program we’re adding about 5 to 1.  In other words, there’s one covered under an existing program prior to the startup of this program, and now there’s approximately five times that amount covered under this Medicare Part D.

MR. FLICK:  Correct.


SENATOR COX:  All right.  So, if it’s true, then, that a whole bunch of folks are going to be paying a lot less, the conclusion you have to come to is there are going to be some folks who are going to be paying a lot more.  That’s the increase in co-pay that we’re hearing about.


MR. FLICK:  Well, this particular benefit program is estimated to cost about $700 billion over a span of ten years.  You know, it’s the taxpayers of America that are going to be paying a significant sum of money to finance the prescription drug benefits that are now covered through the Medicare program.


SENATOR COX:  Mr. Flick, I’m not trying to identify the taxpayers at this particular point in time.  I just want to understand the circumstances here.  What we have is we’re going to see a lot of folks who are paying a lot less for their prescription drugs.


MR. FLICK:  That is correct.


SENATOR COX:  It’s about a 5 to 1 ratio.


MR. FLICK:  That’s correct.


SENATOR COX:  It does mean that those people who were in fact covered under a dual system before—somewhere in the neighborhood of a million people in the State of California—who may have had or had not any co-payments, their cost of prescriptions is going to go up.


MR. FLICK:  That’s correct.


SENATOR COX:  Okay.  Now, is there any provision—for the record—is there any provision to in fact hold those folks harmless?  Or do I look them in the eye today and say, That’s just the way this program was designed, and there’s going to be a whole lot of people who are paying less, and you, unfortunately, are going to be paying more?


MR. FLICK:  You’re correct to say that is the way the program was designed.  There are states who have taken action.  There are some states who decided to pick up that expense.  California’s not one of those states.


SENATOR COX:  I didn’t hear what you said, sir.


MR. FLICK:  I said there are states that have decided to pay for those co-pays.  

SENATOR COX:  And California?


MR. FLICK:  California’s not one of those states.


SENATOR COX:  California’s not one of those states.  And what is the estimated cost the State of California would have to pay in order to provide the same level of coverage for those folks who were covered under the initial program who will in fact now be paying more?


MR. FLICK:  I’d be happy to put pencil to paper and try to come up with something accurate.  Stan might be in a better position to do that than I, but I’ll pledge to . . . 


SENATOR COX:  Well, maybe we, Madam Chair, could get that information.  I think that would be very helpful to us, to have some idea as to what that number is.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  That could be part of the budget discussion:  if we want to pay for that.  They had full coverage before, as you noted.


SENATOR COX:  Madam Chair, let me just conclude by saying that I appreciate the fact—and I hope everybody else does—that there are a whole bunch of folks who are going to be paying a lot less for their prescription drugs.  About 30 million people will be paying less.  Unfortunately, in the State of California, there will be a significant number—about a million—who will be paying more.  The real question for this legislative body is:  What do we want to do about it?  Do we want to do something about it?  Don’t we want to do anything about it?  What is it that we want to do?  So, I just raise that.


Thank you very much, Mr. Flick, and for coming.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  We have three other people who want to speak.  I just want to clarify one point since we’re on that point.


Out of the 24 million people who could qualify for this Part D, it’s not true that none of them have coverage right now.  I mean, isn’t it true that there’s          7 million who are dual eligible, there’s about 5 million who are already enrolled in a Medicare HMO, and there’s about 6 million who are covered by employment-based insurance.  To say that there’s a full 24 million who didn’t have drug coverage before who are going to be covered now is not exactly a valid statement.  Is that correct?


MR. FLICK:  You are correct.  Some of the 24 million people that have coverage today through the Medicare program had coverage before.  Many did not have coverage before.  The important thing to remember with the Medicare Advantage population is that, although many of those individuals had some coverage in the past, most of those individuals had very inferior, very modest coverage.  That coverage has been expanded tremendously as a result of this benefit.  They have much more comprehensive coverage today than they had in December.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Okay.  We have Mr. De La Torre, Senator Alquist, and Assemblymember Berg.  We have two other panels, if we could move along.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  Thank you.

First of all, I was a little bit surprised that this big success wasn’t highlighted by the President in his State of the Union last night.  [Laughter]


In terms of what’s been going on recently, what is the state doing to identify which plans have the largest deficiencies, in which areas, so we can start doing a checklist and removing these problems one by one?


MR. FLICK:  We’re involved in a number of activities right now to identify on a plan-specific basis some of the important performance parameters here, including things like their ability to deliver customer service, answer the telephone lines, respond to beneficiaries or members, respond to pharmacists.  In fact, I’m expecting that there may be an announcement soon with more details than I can give you at this minute.  


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  Related to that, I know that CMS encouraged the plans to provide a 30-day transitional supply of drugs and encouraged them to have more phone lines, et cetera.  Why didn’t you just require it?  Why not just tell them, You’ve got to do [this], [this], and [this] in the transition period and phase out rather than having to ramp up?


MR. FLICK: From the very beginning there were requirements—requirements that every plan had to develop, write, submit, and have a transition plan approved.  What we did not do is tell them exactly what parameters had to go into that plan.  Every plan was responsible for demonstrating to us that they had a plan—a plan that was rational and reasonable—to allow people to transition.  As it became understood that these commitments were very, very important, we at CMS expressed our view that we wanted to see plans have at least a 30-day, first-fill commitment, and the plans all agreed.  So, every plan that’s participating in this program agreed that they would have at least that level of commitment to the transition process.  Now, keep in mind, some of the plans have bigger transition commitments.  But every plan agreed to have at least a 30-day, first-fill commitment.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  So, between the time that you approved their transition plan and when zero-hour approached, you determined that you needed to have these additional qualifications—not requirements—but whatever you want to call them.


MR. FLICK:  Correct.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  There was a time between when you approved the plan and when we started this whole thing that you determined that more was needed.


MR. FLICK:  Right.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  And so, when you encouraged them, then every one of them met that standard.


MR. FLICK:  Every one of them met that standard.  Now, what resulted is a bit of a communications challenge.  And again, I’ve said wonderful things about the pharmacists, and I meant every word that I said about the pharmacists, but it is hard—it’s part of the challenge that we have—to make sure all the pharmacists understand this, to make sure that all of the personnel at all of the plans—all of their customer service reps are trained and understand this.  You know, when I rank the challenges, system challenges absolutely number one, absolutely the most important thing.  Communication challenges absolutely number two.  This is a big job.  We have to talk to tens of thousands of pharmacists around the country.  We have to talk to hundreds of thousands of doctors around the country.  There’s a massive communication effort.  We have, literally, conference calls every day.  National conference calls.  Open-door calls.  We as an agency at CMS have never had more communication than we have today.  We have wonderful partners helping us.  The State of California has been incredibly helpful, as have the other states, as have the HICAP organizations.  This is a big team effort trying to reach lots of people, making sure they understand the parameters of a new program that’s big in scope.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  The issue of the volunteers came up earlier, and the training.  What type of training are these direct assistance operators being given on these issues like what was mentioned by my colleague earlier of how Social Security meshes with this, how we can take of care of folks who are on SSI/SSP, on very rigid incomes?  What kind of training are they getting to address those kinds of questions that are very much a part of this problem?


MR. FLICK:  I will tell you, a large part of this is the so-called train-the-trainer effort.  It starts with a relatively small number of people.  They go out and train trainers, who train other trainers, who train other people.  The HICAP organization here has been very, very good about training staff.  Obviously, we’ve put on enormous numbers of educational programs to train Social Security staff, to train advocates.  We meet with the advocates on a very, very regular basis here.  We have national conference calls just about every day on this issue so that anyone in any part of the country can jump onto a telephone call.  It’s a toll-free line, and they can learn a lot by participating in these calls.  So, there are tens of thousands of partners that have been trained in this prescription drug benefit program, and the effort has been large.  


I will share with you, however, human nature is what it is.  And so, there were some pharmacists who didn’t want to be really trained about this in November because it wasn’t in front of them.  They want to be trained now because it’s in front of them now.  There were some doctors in September and October and November and December who really didn’t want to necessarily take a lot of time to learn about this.  Well, they’re wanting to take time now because it’s in front of them now.  So, there’s a little bit of human nature popping in here.  You know, we were prepared to do a lot of training—we did a lot of training—but you have to have a willing audience who wants to be trained.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  I can accept that, but to me, providers—pharmacists, doctors—are civilian casualties in this thing.  The core of the transition has to be from CMS and the state DHS to these folks.  I mean, the responsibility lies with us, not with some provider out there who’s seeing hundreds of patients a week.


MR. FLICK:  I completely agree.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  So, I appreciate what you’re saying, but I really think we need to accept our responsibility in all of this.


MR. FLICK:  I completely agree.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  And then, finally—this is my last question—I know that there’s been a case that has been brought where patients were charged a co-pay for each ingredient in a nutritional supplement.  I realize we’ve got this logistical nightmare going on, but at the same time, somebody has to be the cop, and that’s you.  What are you doing on these situations where people are being taken advantage of?  How are you handling those cases?


MR. FLICK:  There’s actually a decent number of situations that have occurred in real life that were not contemplated in the regulation where there was not guidance that was one hundred percent clear.  When we become aware of that, my Region IX and the other nine regions in the country all make sure that our central office peers are aware of the issues so that there can be policy judgments made that are consistent across the country.  That’s exactly what’s happening with the particular issue that you just cited.  


Michael Negrete earlier today highlighted some issues around Part B versus Part D prescription medications.  I think Stan talked a little bit about the home-infusion issue—another example.  So, these issues are popping up.  They’re getting referred to our peers at central office.  We’re getting guidance out pretty darn fast.  Most of the time there’s a good story to tell, but we have to look at these things, we have to understand there’s national implications, and we’re doing that right now.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  It would be very helpful for us if we could get some of those issues that have been referred so that we’re aware, and the solution.  You know, what was the referral?  What was the problem?  And then,  what did you determine would be the outcome there so that we could know if we get those calls in our offices; so we would know that it’s something that’s happened, it’s been dealt with, and offer the solution to it.


MR. FLICK:  I think that’s a great idea.  I want to do that for all members.  I think you may probably already have my email and telephone number, but I’m happy to share that information with you.  My office would be happy to respond.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Senator Alquist.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Thank you.


I have about six points I’d like to make.  The first one is that I don’t want to see the pharmacists be a casualty of this huge problem.  I truly believe that the federal government came up with an ill-conceived idea and dropped it on our lap.  To me, to try and create consistent mediocrity instead of exemplary and unique performance by the State of California, which is our goal here, is not the way to do business.  And so, I have several things to say.  My goal in saying this, as a Ya-Ya, as a Greek grandmother, is so that I’m putting it out there so that when you speak before our Budget Subcommittee on Health and Human Services, you really do the research and you come up with some really good answers.

My next point is that when you say that in a particular memo that the federal government has basically said it will pay for this state, I’m looking at the state reimbursement, and it says, “States that meet the conditions of the waiver will have their full drug benefit costs reimbursed,” et cetera.  What are the conditions of the waiver?  This is one of my questions.

MR. FLICK:  The waiver’s being worked on right now.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  So, right now you don’t know.


MR. FLICK:  Well, the Secretary has made it very clear—I think the administrator has made it very clear—the intention here is absolutely to reimburse states for the costs that they incur in stepping up and providing the medicines on an emergency basis to people who need them.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Okay.  What I don’t want to see is we in California do our job and then later we’re told, Well, you did not meet the conditions of the waiver.  Normally, when a policy is created—state or federal—the goal is to put out, if there are going to be conditions of a waiver, that you put that out at that time to give states the opportunity to understand the conditions of the waiver so that they may meet them and they don’t get hit in the face later when they have spent all this money.  So, that’s one point.


MR. FLICK:  If I can?  Believe me, I appreciate exactly what you’re saying.  My response is, I think we’ve gone one step better here.  And when I say going one step better, this is what I mean.  You’re exactly right—the usual way of doing this sort of thing is for a bunch of federal people to get together, figure out what we’re going to do, and then tell the state, This is what we’re going to do.  This process, we thought, was a little too important, and we decided to take a slightly different route.  Instead of a bunch of federal people sitting down and saying, This is what we’re going to do here, State of California, instead we reached out to states, including this state, and we said, Please participate with us and helping us.

SENATOR ALQUIST:  Right now the people of California and the State of California are facing much greater costs.  And not only costs.  We’re talking about people.  We’re talking about frail elderly.  We’re talking about disabled.  We’re talking about people who don’t have the money, even for a short period of time, to pay or they’re going to be on the street.


MR. FLICK:  I understand.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  I for one am fortunate to be in the position I am, and I’m sure you feel the same way.


MR. FLICK:  I do.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  And so, we have to see that none of these people face this, and we know that there are numbers out there that really are.  If it’s one million or whatever number it is of people who are having a heck of a time right now paying, that’s one million too many.


MR. FLICK:  Yes.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  So, that was my next point.


The next point is:  What about the penalties for those 1.3 million who have not affirmatively signed up for this benefit?  What kind of leeway in writing are you giving them, and are you prepared to waive those penalties, particularly given that I don’t see the CMS having a hundred percent record of performance in this area either?


MR. FLICK:  The best I can do as far as addressing that is to tell you that our efforts right now are one hundred percent focused on addressing the concerns that are out there, fixing the systems, making sure this works well for everyone that is enrolled, and helping as many people as possible choose an appropriate plan and enroll.  I think you’re referring to the penalties that would be applicable if the May 15 date comes and goes and people did not choose to be in a plan and then later decided to be in a plan.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Right.  Are you going to enforce those penalties?


MR. FLICK:  I don’t have an answer.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  So, you don’t have an answer yet.  Just speaking for myself, representing almost 900,000 people in Santa Clara County, many of whom are left in the cold with this new plan that’s not working for us in California, I don’t want to see any of them have to pay a penalty.  And I sure hope that you will communicate that to President Bush and our members of Congress, and that when you come before the Senate Budget subcommittee that you will have an answer.  And I’m trying to be helpful.  I mean, I think all of us here are trying to be helpful.


MR. FLICK:  I completely agree, and I will take that message back to Washington.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  And I think just one or two other comments.  When you were talking about computers speaking to other computers, et cetera, when you’re talking about a computer, you’re talking about a system of information that a human being put into it.  And so, if a computer is having a tough time speaking to another computer, it’s because the resources were not appropriately utilized so that the correct information was inputted into the computer so that it could easily, as you would say, speak to the other computer.  So, I’m also saying that the federal government needs to provide the kind of resources so that the systems work.


One last piece is that the information, in making this transition, needs to be available in many different languages.  I know when a previous speaker was speaking, it was mainly in English and Spanish.  And that’s a good start.  But in California, where we have so many languages—you know, the population is, what, 18 or 20 percent Asian.  To do it just in English and Spanish doesn’t cut it.  So, it would be really great when you speak before the Budget subcommittee—although I’m not on the subcommittee, I plan to attend that meeting—I would like to know that you are going to allocate resources in all these different languages, as well as doing things for the blind.  I mean, it’s a big piece, and I’d like you to look at the whole thing which maybe—well, not maybe.  I don’t think you, and I don’t mean you personally—you know that—but I don’t think this was looked at when this was first conceived.  Okay?


MR. FLICK:  I’ll make just a very brief comment.  I agree with what you said.  I was at several meetings when Administrator McClellan was there.  The State of California made a very strong statement.  There are issues here in California that you don’t find in necessarily every part of the country.  I think that issue is driven home.  Because of California, CMS is changing.  Maybe not changing as much as you would like, but absolutely changing, and we’ll continue to push that issue.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Ms. Berg?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Just a comment on what Senator Alquist said, as a follow-up.  You may have not been in the room when I said that I had held four town hall meetings in my district.  I have to say that of probably at least 1,000 people who attended those four town hall meetings, none of them were in any hurry to sign up because they were all too confused and felt that if they waited until February, March, April, May, that some of the quirks would be worked out.


So, I only have two questions, and mine are in regard to, again, the 6 point 2 or 3 million Medi-Medies—low-income individuals—because I have a very extensive administrative, as well as planning, background.  I mean, when I look at how we rolled this out, I say:  Why didn’t we start with a state like Maine, who has twelve people [laughter], and work out the quirks before we roll it out on a holiday weekend?


So, I guess my first question is, of all the people that are on Medicare, the dual eligibles, as you know, are the most ill, the most vulnerable, and the most poor.  To many people, it appears that the dual eligibles, who could least afford mistakes in the system, were used to test the system.  By that, it’s like why weren’t the dual eligibles—at least the dual eligibles—phased in over time, or not switched, until Medicare Part D had been up and running for at least a few months and some of those quirks had been worked out?  That’s my first question.


MR. FLICK:  Thank you for the question.  It’s a very good question.  I do not have an answer.  I don’t want this to sound like a cop-out, but my agency implements the law the best way we can.  The law said January 1.  I don’t really know why.  But I do know that my responsibility, the responsibility of the agency that I work with, was to do the very best job we could of implementing this thing in accordance with the law which said January 1.  It was a big challenge for us, and I assure you, if you were to poll the employees in my office, they might have voted to do something a little different on their New Year’s weekend.  But be that as it is, we’re responsible for implementing this the best way we can, and the law said January 1.  We did the best we could, and we’re going to continue to do the best we can to address whatever those issues are.  I can’t really answer your question as to why January 1 was the date.

SENATOR ALQUIST:  I’m not going to let that one go.  I mean, I certainly will with you, but I’m not going to let that issue go.


My second question is:  How will CMS address the expected delay for the low-income subsidy when individuals switch plans, as is happening on a regular basis, as well as new people being eligible for Medi-Cal in our state every month?


MR. FLICK:  A very serious question and an awful lot of debate about that issue every single day at CMS.  Obviously, the first thing everyone looked at:  Is there a way legally for us, CMS, to basically say, You can enroll in a plan whenever you want, but if you enroll prior to the 15th of the month, then your coverage begins the first of the next month.  But if you enroll after the 15th of the month, then your coverage is delayed a month following the next month?  That recommendation was suggested by a lot of people.  It for sure would have probably addressed a lot of issues, fixed a lot of concerns.  The response that we have received from our legal counsel is:  That’s not what the law says.  You can’t do that.  That the law says somebody can enroll New Year’s Eve at 11:59 p.m., show up in our pharmacy on January 1st at eight o’clock in the morning and have their full benefits available to them.  Candidly, that is a very, very tough situation to deal with.  There is no way that in seven or eight hours we can get all the membership materials, all that information, get this into five or six different large computer systems.  It is a serious challenge for us now.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  But why can’t the law be amended?


MR. FLICK:  The law probably can be amended.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  I think it could be.


MR. FLICK:  Now, here’s what I can tell you.  If we can’t change that immediately, what we can do is messaging to people to basically say, You can enroll whenever you want.  You can enroll the last day of the month if that’s what you so choose to do.  But if you decide to enroll the last day of the month, then you might experience some issues if you go to the pharmacy the next day and your information is likely not to be in the computer system.  And here’s some steps that you can take.  If you receive an acknowledgment letter from your plan, by all means, bring that acknowledgement letter in.  They’re not going to have it, though, the next day.  Or some other options that are available:  You can pay for your medicines in cash and get reimbursed.  

So, there’s a variety of things that we’re looking at doing in terms of communicating around that problem.  It is a problem.  It does take us some time to get all of this information out of an application and into the right computer systems, membership cards, et cetera.  It cannot be done overnight.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Mr. De La Torre, you have an additional question?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  One final question, something that’s come to my attention.  This is from a May 18, 2004, report by Common Cause entitled, “Democracy on Drugs.”  I’m going to quote from this report, page 4:  “[Richard] Foster,” who was the HHS chief actuary, “the government’s chief analyst of Medicare costs, says that he was warned repeatedly by his former boss,  Thomas A. Scully, the Medicare administrator for three years, that he would be dismissed if he replied directly to legislative requests for information about prescription drug bills pending in Congress.  In an email released by Foster, Scully’s assistant, Jeffrey Flick, instructed the actuary to answer Republican queries regarding provisions in the Medicare bill but was warned—in bold font—not to provide information for Democratic requests ‘with anyone else until Tom Scully explicitly talks with you—authorizing release of information.  The consequences for insubordination are extremely severe,’ Flick wrote in bold type.”

I mean, I realize we’re now where we are and we’re trying to fix the problem, but I’m very interested, because Senator Ducheny alluded to it just a second ago, that there are questions flying around the Capitol right now.  It was very interesting to me that your name surfaced with regard to these.  

Do you care to comment?


MR. FLICK:  I’m happy to comment.  I met with the appropriate Ways and Means Committee.  We had a thorough discussion about this.  I think it was the conclusion of that committee that it was appropriate for the administrator to ask an employee who works for him to talk with him before releasing information.  In my view, it was as simple as that.  The administrator, even today, if the administrator says, Jeff Flick, I’d like to talk to you before releasing this information, it’s, in my view, an appropriate request.  I would certainly do that.  That was the interchange that happened between Tom Scully and an employee of CMS.  The facts are what they are.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  So, the facts are that information was provided to some legislators while others had to go through Mr. Scully?


MR. FLICK:  No.  The facts are, the administrator asked an employee to talk with him before releasing information.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DE LA TORRE:  Well, I was in the city council before I came here where the city manager took it upon himself to decide what the city council members, elected by the people to oversee the government, could and could not get in terms of information.  I think when we go down that road, it doesn’t work.  That’s not the democratic process that we have.  Our job is to oversee government.  You know, there’s that whole saying about the fruit of a poisoned tree.  I have very serious concerns about any process that is not open and does not provide the information that is needed for people to make the proper decisions.  


MR. FLICK:  My only comment is, from where I sit, I don’t think you can make that conclusion.  We have the administrator of an agency saying he wants to talk to an employee before information is released publicly.  That’s, in my view, a completely appropriate request.  That’s totally different from what you’re talking about.


SENATOR COX:  Madam Chair, by the way, I’m not certain how this is relative to our issue here today.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  I think we’re going to move on, but I think it was relevant because there was this issue of whether the cost estimates of the plan—that had been raised earlier—whether the cost estimates of the plan, both at the federal level and the state level, were accurate or not.  So, I think that’s the relevancy.

Okay, we’re going to wrap this section up and move on to the next.  


I just wanted to end by asking you again, for the record here, that there’s a commitment from the federal government to repay California this 150—or whatever amount we end up spending—in a timely fashion.  You don’t have to go into it.  Just yes or no for the record, there’s a commitment.


MR. FLICK:  Yes.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Okay.  The other thing is on the deadline, this February 15th deadline.  You heard our people, our healthcare people, say that there will probably be significant problems continuing, maybe for a smaller population—we don’t know—after the 15th.  We need assurance that if the deadline needs to be moved out in terms of the repayment, that that’s going to happen.  Okay?

MS. MUÑOZ:  Madam Chair, Secretary Leavitt has said that he is committed to working with all the states to make sure that that date is not set in stone if there’s a need to extend it.  


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Okay.  Another question.  May 15th.  Has there been any discussion yet, since we’re still trying to mend this system—we’re already getting into February—about the May 15th deadline for the Medi-Cal population?  Has there been any discussion about changing that date?

MS. MUÑOZ:  There is continuous discussion on the Hill, and at this point, it is a statutory change.  


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  I would just encourage you strongly to look at that.  There was an overestimation of what could be done in one day.  There’s significant problems that are continuing even past this February 15th deadline.  So, it’s just commonsense to think that perhaps we should be a little more cautious this time.


And I guess, just lastly, I want to say—and you don’t have to comment on it—is that you talked about this plan was decided based on its consistency.  I’ll just state that I will work with you.  I will do whatever I can to make sure that people in California get this coverage.  But I certainly would not have chosen this plan if consistency was going to be one of my standards.  I mean, to pick a plan where California has 58 private negotiations and a plan where the federal government waived its right to negotiate discounts with the plans, to me does not result in a lot of consistency.  But you don’t have to answer that.  I’m just saying that to me that wasn’t a particularly wise choice.


Thank you anyway for coming and for answering our questions.  If you could remain—we have two more panels—in case people need to ask you more questions.  You don’t have to sit up here.


I’m going to turn it over to Senator Alquist for the representatives from the Medicare drug plans.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Thank you.


We’re going to try and move along fairly quickly.  We want to give a lot of time for the last panel, which is the advocates.  For this panel, Panel IV, which is “Representatives From Plans Providing Medicare Drug Coverage,” we have three people:  Susan Rawlings, senior vice president and president, Senior Services, The WellPoint Companies; Virginia White, senior vice president and chief clinical officer, Health Net Pharmaceutical Services; and Tom Paul, chief pharmacy officer, United/PacifiCare.  As you know, you each have five minutes.  That’s five minutes uninterrupted from us.  Apparently, somebody’s going to hold up a little sign once you get to the four-minute mark so you know you have one minute left.

On the list first I have Susan Rawlings.  Welcome.


MS. SUSAN RAWLINGS:  Good afternoon.


What I’d like to do today is give you a brief bit of background of what we’re doing in California, how we view the issue, what we did to prepare, and some of the things we’ve done since January 1st.  And I will do my best to stay in the five minutes.


I represent WellPoint, and our organization serves beneficiaries, approximately 120,000 dual eligibles in California, through two of our companies:  Blue Cross of California and UNACARE.  We also care for approximately 1.2 million medical members across the country through a variety of different brands and are very committed to this particular customer segment and are very pleased to be a participant in the Medicare Part D program.


We did a considerable amount of work over the last year to prepare for the Part D implementation.  I’ll highlight a few things for you.  We implemented around-the-clock call centers, both for our members and for pharmacists.  We did a significant amount of outreach through our distribution systems to get information out to communities.  We did several hundred meetings actually . . .


SENATOR ALQUIST:  I’m going to interrupt you just for one minute because I would like all of you to be sure and answer these three questions that I have, and that way we’ll have some exemplary consistency here.


MS. RAWLINGS:  Okay.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  The first one is:  What are your language and accessibility policy and procedures?  When and how fast do you make alternative formats like Braille or larger fonts for the visually impaired available when asked?  What are the languages that your materials are produced in?  And third, can you provide specifics on the transition plans for dual eligibles?  Please give examples of how that is working.  So, if you could address all of those.


MS. RAWLINGS:  I can answer them for you real quickly.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  And then if there’s anything else you’d like to add.


MS. RAWLINGS:  Yes, I’d be happy to.


First, let me start at the end—and please help me if I forget your questions.  The languages that we have available are Spanish, French, Tagalog, Hindu, Cambodian, Vietnamese, Dutch, Cantonese, and Gujatari.  We have hearing-impaired information.  We provide larger typed print for those who are visually disabled, and we are available literally 24/7 to help these folks get what they need.


With regard to the transition plan for folks that are coming off of a particular drug, our company established a 90-day transition plan.  And during this first 90 days—and it’s really triggered by the first time the beneficiary comes into the pharmacy—we basically are not editing at the pharmacy level and are enabling whatever prescription they have to go through.  

I will tell you that I think it’s working fairly well.  People are getting what they need.  We’ve provided, probably, nearly 3½ million prescriptions this month across the country.  That’s not just in California.  And we’ve also provided about 575,000 through the facilitated enrollment process.  That’s, as I think you all know, the safety net program that we are partnering with CMS on to make sure duals get what they need.


And I think in the interest of time, I’ll say one thing.  I think we’ve done a lot of work to prepare.  There’s clearly a number of things we need to do.  I will tell you I think the collaboration in the industry—our colleagues, competitors, CMS, the states—we work daily together to try to find solutions.  I think we all share the commitment to make sure beneficiaries get what they need at the pharmacy and are doing everything we can to make that happen.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  What has been the biggest criticism of your company, and how are you addressing it?


MS. RAWLINGS:  I think the biggest criticism is the wait times on the phones.  We have two phone centers.  Well, actually, several phone centers.  They’re divided, really, for pharmacists and for beneficiaries.  We’ve added additional staff.  We started at about 450 on one _______ dedicated to this service.  We’ll be at 900 by the end of February.  We’ve added significant phone lines.  We have maneuvered resources, expanded shifts—went from 5 days to 7 days, 9 hours a day to 15 hours a day—to try to expand capacity.  We’re basically hiring and staffing as quickly as we can.


I think the other part of the equation is working daily with CMS to improve the eligibility data that the pharmacists see so that they can use the system, because the system—electronically and processing prescriptions—actually does work.  And so, the more we educate, the more we work with pharmacies to get that information readily available for them, the easier it is to process transactions, and we’ve already seen improvement.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  You know, one statement I’ve made to my staff for many years is that if you don’t know the right question to ask, you can’t get the right answer.  So, how do beneficiaries know who to call when they’re having a problem in getting the medication during this transition period?  Is there a big sign out at each pharmacy?  How do they know what to do?


MS. RAWLINGS:  I think that’s a really good question, and I think it depends on the beneficiary and what the issue is.  So, it’s hard to generally answer that, I guess, from my perspective.  I think for the bulk of our members, virtually all of them have their ID cards, and there’s a phone number on the back of that card, and materials.  That should be able to help them so they can call.  At the beginning of the month, for example, our wait times were out of our own standard, and as I mentioned, it’s something we’re working very diligently to bring back under control.  The wait times now on the member lines range in the morning from zero wait time to maybe five to seven minutes in the middle of the day.  So, there is a little longer wait, but it’s much better now.

SENATOR ALQUIST:  So, you’ve educated them that they need to carry their card with them and that that card has the phone number on the back that anytime, night or day, they can access to ask a question; or, if they’re right at the pharmacy and having a difficult time getting the prescription or having to pay much more co-pay than they thought they would have to pay, they can just call that number and somebody will be right there who will help them.


MS. RAWLINGS:  To the best of our ability we’ve educated, and to the best of our ability we’re available for them.  As I mentioned, we do have some wait time issues.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  It would be good if you could give to this joint committee some statistics on how that’s really working.  And I would ask that of anyone up here.


MS. RAWLINGS:  Okay.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Thank you. 


We have a question from Senator Cox.


SENATOR COX:  Madam Chair, thank you.


I only have one personal experience.  I received a call on Friday afternoon, and it was a situation where I received a call from a supervisor, a member of the board of supervisors up in Sierra County.  She identified a woman who was about ninety and was having difficulty making this transition, getting her prescription drugs.  I will tell you, we got the problem solved today, but I guess the thing that I was the most troubled about—and by the way, a very sharp, very bright person for her age.  But I couldn’t figure out how she got assigned to the East Coast.

MS. RAWLINGS:  What do you mean?


SENATOR COX:  Well, her prescription call center was on the East Coast.  And so, my question is:  Who made that determination?  How did you decide that a person who lives up in Sierra County—I presume you know where Sierra County is.  It’s up north; one of the twelve counties of Senate District 1; about 18/19 thousand people.  How did you make that decision that she ought to get her prescription drug authorization from the East Coast?


MS. RAWLINGS:  Let me ask a clarifying question, if I might.  Are you speaking about WellPoint in particular or industry kind of . . . 


SENATOR COX:  I believe in this particular situation, it was probably WellPoint.  But my guess is, it is the entire system.  First of all, how many prescription centers are there serving Californians?  Do you know?


MS. RAWLINGS:  I can answer from WellPoint’s perspective.


SENATOR COX:  All right.  How many?


MS. RAWLINGS:  Two.


SENATOR COX:  Two.


MS. RAWLINGS:  Yes.  


SENATOR COX:  One is located where?


MS. RAWLINGS:  Well, actually, there’s three.  There’s one in West Hills, California.  There’s one in Plano, Texas.  And there’s one in Mason, Ohio.  Those are the three facilities that actually work with pharmacists.


SENATOR COX:  Is there ever any instance where a Californian might be assigned to an Ohio facility?


MS. RAWLINGS:  Well, let me see if I can try another approach at this.


SENATOR COX:  I don’t mean to be disrespectful, but the question is either a “yes” or a “no.”

MS. RAWLINGS:  Actually, I’m not certain if it is.  If you wouldn’t mind, I’d like to see if I could clarify it.


SENATOR COX:  All right.


MS. RAWLINGS:  For example, if this particular individual was a Blue Cross of California patient—for example, having a Blue Cross of California card—that particular individual would be assigned to a California health plan, and that particular individual would have a member service organization that was based  in. . . . the member side is in Newbury Park, California.  That’s actually where my office is.  As I mentioned, their pharmacist would send their claim to a facility that’s either in West Hills or in Plano.  And if there’s no need for a phone call to be made, then there’s really no potential for that person to even talk to anybody outside of California, because the plan is actually based here in California.  The particular patient, when they walk into a pharmacy, is actually getting serviced at a California pharmacy and receiving a drug there at the pharmacy, if I understand that correctly.  That’s why I wanted to clarify.


SENATOR COX:  So, your point then, your contention, is it’s not relevant whether I am concerned about the fact that this is a prescription drug center for a Californian on the East Coast.


MS. RAWLINGS:  I don’t want to be disrespectful either.  I think that it’s important that they get their drug, and I think that the drug . . . 


SENATOR COX:  As I do, but I am troubled by the fact that there seems to be—and I’d be interested to know from other people whether they have been assigned to some prescription drug center outside of the State of California.  Now, I’m aware that if I’m going to fix my computer, I may very well be talking to somebody who lives in Bombay or Calcutta or someplace such as that.  But I would feel much better knowing that Californians were being taken care of by the California prescription call center.


MS. RAWLINGS:  Okay.


SENATOR COX:  Would you?


MS. RAWLINGS:  Well, the enrollee is, in terms of our Blue Cross of California.


SENATOR COX:  All right.  Then let me come back to the next question then.  How does one get assigned to an East Coast prescription drug center?  They didn’t pick it themselves.  They certainly wouldn’t have picked the East Coast, saying, Well, thank you very much.  I think I’ll just take it over there in Florida or someplace like that.


MS. ANN COONS:  I’m going to take a crack at this, Senator.  Ann Coons, vice president for State Affairs, Blue Cross of California.


The enrollee, I think as Susan was mentioning, is handled by an enrollee call center in California.  However, our pharmacy benefit management company, or the entity with whom the pharmacy deals with, is not located in California.  So, when a pharmacist is dealing with trying to get the prescription filled, or whatever, there are different places where they would interact with.  And from an efficiency point of view, it would be considerably more expensive if we were to set up a call center in each one of the fifty states to deal with that.


SENATOR COX:  I understand that part.  I’m just trying to figure out whether or not the individual had anything to do with making the decision or whether it was just arbitrarily placed on them that they would in fact be in a prescription drug call center on the East Coast.  Maybe that doesn’t trouble you all.  It troubles me.  I don’t know whether it troubles anybody else on this dais.  It troubles me to think that we in fact have Californians who in fact are being serviced by a prescription drug call center on the East Coast and they didn’t select it, other than they got a number saying, Call here if you have a problem.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  But it’s an 800 number, right?


SENATOR COX:  Anybody else got an answer; that you want to try it on?

MS. VIRIGINIA WHITE:  Hi, Dave.  My name’s Virginia White.  I’m with Health Net.  I know we haven’t started our five minutes, but I’d be pleased to try to answer that.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Go right ahead.


MS. WHITE:  Thank you.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  This point.


MS. WHITE:  I guess I would have to say, sir, that I don’t agree with your premise.  I think that when having someone answer the phone to take care of a beneficiary in California, that the important thing is that the person on the other end of the phone is there; that they can answer the phone and that they have the information to take care of the member’s concerns.


From a Health Net perspective, we don’t assign members to a call center.  They’re not assigned.  What we did at Health Net was we established a member call center specifically for our PDP members, which are the standalone pharmacy benefit members, and the call center that we work with is based in Lakeland, Florida and in Allentown, Pennsylvania.  So yes, if you’re a Health Net member in California, you may well be speaking to someone in another state.  And again, our focus is on making sure that those answers are provided in a confident manner and as efficiently as possible.

SENATOR COX:  I guess we just have a difference of opinion there.


Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  You’re quite welcome, Senator Cox.


Ms. Rawlings, were you through?


MS. RAWLINGS:  My only point was I think the collaboration I’d leave you with is a lot of people are working together to try to make this happen, and I appreciate you all holding this hearing and inviting us to speak.  And I do hope we continue to collaborate to find these solutions we’re committed to.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Right.  I mean, we certainly want to work with you to help the people of California.  And if you could get that information to our committee on the length of time that it takes people to get a direct answer; and for those people who don’t have their cards on them, how they know whom to call.  Okay?


Senator Ducheny.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Just one directly for WellPoint.  The federal representatives who were just here indicated that you were the default entity that should, could, or would make up for the costs that the state is now incurring—to be the default entity for our dual eligibles.  In other words, we are now agreeing that Medi-Cal will be the default for the moment on the theory that we will be reimbursed by the federal government, who I imagine is going to ask you or somebody like you for reimbursement.  But that’s between you and them.  As long as we get our money, we frankly don’t care which of you pays it.  But I am concerned about what you believe your capability is to become the default entity, again, on or before February 15th or by what date you think that may in fact occur or if that is your plan to in fact become that entity.

MS. RAWLINGS:  Let me do my best to be brief.  The original arrangement that WellPoint and CMS entered into was for our subsidiary UNACARE—which is in all fifty states—to be the safety net for duals who were missed in the auto-assignment process and needed to get their prescriptions.  So, beginning     January 1st, we enabled a process at the pharmacy that would allow a pharmacist to fill a script without being able to find that particular dual individual as eligible on the CMS E-1 system.  That has been working.  It’s actually been working quite a bit better.  We are actually . . . 

SENATOR DUCHENY:  Well, back to the system that failed on the 1st in the sense that the pharmacist couldn’t get through—or did pharmacists know they were supposed to do that?


MS. RAWLINGS:  I think some pharmacists did and some pharmacists didn’t.  CMS made educational attempts prior to the first of the year, as did our organization, and I think between the 1st of January and the middle of the month—for example, we made tremendous inroads in helping folks understand how to use the system.  Our volume has tripled per day by the time we’ve gotten at the last two weeks.  So, you can really tell people understand how to use it now.  It’s actually one that doesn’t require phone calls or anything.  It’s very easy to use once folks get the hang of it.

CMS has asked us to consider expanding that role.  We are working with the central office of CMS to consider how we go about doing that.  There’s a high degree of urgency with it.  We’re concerned with two issues.  One is:  Do we have adequate phone capability? because we do expect to spike in phone calls from the pharmacies.  We want to be able to handle that and not create another problem.  And the other issue is we want to confirm that we have the electronic capacity in the claims payment system to be able to handle it.  So, we’re literally working on that. . . . well, we have been for about three or four days.  We hope to have an answer as to our ability to expand this by the end of the week.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  And you’ll let us know, or somebody?


MS. RAWLINGS:  Absolutely.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Mr. Rosenstein or somebody.


MS. RAWLINGS:  We’ll let Stan know, yes.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Partly because, then, we do have to consider whether we need to do an extension beyond the 11th, which is only a week and a half from now, of our own default system.  And so, what the level of ability to do that is.

SENATOR ALQUIST:  Senator, are you through?  Okay.


Just to kind of crystallize it, is the federal government paying plans—all of you—money for drugs poor people are not getting?


MR. TOM PAUL:  My name is Tom Paul.  I’m the chief pharmacy officer for United Health Group Innovations.  Innovations is a business unit within United Health Group that serves individuals fifty and older across the country.


In regard to payment from the government for the purpose of Part D, for every approved Medicare eligible individual that is enrolled into our plans, we are paid for providing prescription drug services to them.  So, when you ask the question for people not getting their drugs, most often that’s a result of the fact that we don’t have an approved eligible person in our program, and as a result, we are not getting paid for that individual.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  But the federal government approved so many people, and although that number of people could be several million short across the country—it could be a million in California—the federal government is paying you all money to give them drugs, and although perhaps they haven’t enrolled, you’re getting the money and not giving the drugs.


MR. PAUL:  It’s only if they’re enrolled in our plan that we’re compensated by the government for providing them.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  So, what I’m hearing is that there seems to be a glitch here.  It sounds like perhaps—and please correct me if I’m wrong—but it sounds like the federal government is giving you all money for a larger pool of people who have not become a part of your plans.  No?


MR. PAUL:  That’s not correct.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  So, every single person you are getting money for is in your plan and is benefiting and not having to pay a larger co-pay.


MS. RAWLINGS:  You don’t get reimbursed until the person’s in your plan.


MR. PAUL:  Until they’re approved.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Assemblywoman Berg?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  The glitch is the enrollment process; getting them enrolled into the plan.  That’s the glitch.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Right.  So, what I’m understanding is that the federal government perhaps has assumed a larger pool of people, and yet, not all of these people are enrolled in plans.  So, what I said earlier is true:  that there are people out there who are not enrolled in the plans and perhaps not getting drugs because they have not enrolled, and you’re having a tough time figuring out whether or not to give them drugs when they’re not enrolled.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Assemblywoman Chan on that point.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  They were automatically enrolled on January 1st, but they didn’t necessarily know they were enrolled.  So, when they go to the pharmacy, the pharmacy didn’t know they were enrolled, and they didn’t know they were enrolled.  We heard that testimony earlier.  In fact, you got the reimbursement as of the date when they were automatically assigned.  Is that correct?

MS. WHITE:  If I might?  I know I haven’t had my five minutes . . . 


SENATOR ALQUIST:  And I promise you, you will.


MS. WHITE:  My only point is that I think if you give us a chance to present some information, we might well address some of these questions, and then I think it would give you a basis for then to ask additional questions.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  You know what?  You may have more than the five minutes.  But I think we really need to understand because from what I’m understanding—I mean, it sounds like you are given money for people who have not enrolled in your program, and because they’re going to pharmacies and their name isn’t in the computer—because the computers are not talking to each other and they’re not enrolled—they’re not getting the drugs or else they’re having to pay a whole lot more money.  If you can frame it for us, we would love to hear.


MS. WHITE:  Okay, thank you.  Well, I’ll just make one introductory comment.  


SENATOR ALQUIST:  You can have more than one.  And it’s Ms. Virginia White, senior vice president and chief clinical officer, Health Net Pharmaceutical Services.


MS. WHITE:  That is correct.  And I’m a pharmacist.  

Health Net Pharmaceutical Services manages the pharmacy benefit for Health Net which is a managed care organization that has health plans in six states.  Health Net is a participant in the Medicare Part D program, obviously.  We’re a sponsor in six CMS regions which encompasses ten states.  So, we have a standalone pharmacy benefit in those ten states.  We have approximately 280,000 members enrolled in those states; approximately 126,000 of which are in California, and of those, about 117,000 are dual eligibles.  So, I know that’s the focus of today’s conversation.


What I wanted to say in response to the current focus on payment from the federal government is that I think as you’re trying to pinpoint around the enrollment, I would suggest a broader approach to look at it.  Clearly, we all had difficulties at the beginning of the month with enrollment data not being available to us.  Either the actual member wasn’t on the files or, in our case, we received a file late in December that finally had the addresses on it.  So, we were delayed in being able to send out ID cards to folks so that they had something in their hand January 1st.  Added on to that were gaps in the information for the members that we didn’t know were ours yet.  For example, we had 7,000 people—that’s across the whole nation—whose addresses were “the third house past the church.”  It wasn’t an address we could send an ID card to.  So, those had to be manually worked at the first of the month.

I think largely, as you’ve heard from others today, those issues are mostly behind us in terms of having additional information from CMS.  There was a file provided January 18th.  Health Net was one of the companies that was asked to work with CMS to work through how to interpret that file, to make sure it was meaningful so it could then be provided also in another iteration to all the other plans.  That solved a lot of problems.  It filled in a lot of gaps with the low-income subsidy information so that by the week of January 23rd, we were in a much better position to have all the right information so that when members go to the pharmacies, the pharmacists can process the prescription appropriately.


So, when you start talking about premium repayment and that sort of financial end . . . 


SENATOR ALQUIST:  It’s basically a process question.


MS. WHITE:  All I was going to say was that the process is based on the enrollment as CMS has provided it to us, but it is retrospective.  

I think the real issue, though, is the repayment.  If this person was truly ours on January 1st and we didn’t know it but CMS did—and they’re ours—and we figured it out by the 10th of the month, and if the states provided prescriptions during that time or, heaven forbid, the member paid out of pocket, we as a health plan are good for that.  We will reimburse the state; we will reimburse the member.  We will definitely do our part to make sure that the member is made whole.  


The CMS folks talked already about the repayment commitment, and I . . .


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Yes, we heard about that with the waiver conditions that are not developed, yes.


MS. WHITE:  Well, I think the important thing is the commitment, and I wanted to state that, similarly, from a health plan standpoint, it may not matter to you where the money comes from, but from our standpoint, if they were our member and these are our members, they’re our responsibility.  We will send the money to CMS to send to you or send it to you directly, however all the details work out.  But I think that’s a full commitment, and I think it’s industry-wide. 


SENATOR ALQUIST:  I understand that to be a full commitment, and I honor that and respect you for saying that.


MS. WHITE:  Thank you.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  That’s a full commitment without waivers.  Correct?

MS. WHITE:  I have no waivers.


The other thing I wanted to comment on was getting back to some of your questions but also some of my comments.  

The other issue we struggled with was the transition program.  We established a transition program at Health Net that was a 60-day coverage at the retail pharmacies, 90 days at mail order pharmacies and long-term-care pharmacies.  It was our full intent that members who come to the pharmacy would get the medications that they’d been on without interruption.

I know you’ve heard from Michael Negrete from CPhA that the pharmacists did an incredible job with a lot of competing sources of information.  Unfortunately, we’re part of the source of some of that information.  We sent three different pharmacy bulletins to our entire pharmacy network advising them about how the transition program worked.  In our plan, it works by having a code entered by the pharmacy into the claims processing system to allow any restrictions for a medication that might have some limits on it to be—I won’t use the word “waived”—but to be ignored and to allow to pay.  Not all the pharmacies read the bulletins.  They had a lot of reading to do from lots of other sources, and so, the code wasn’t used routinely the first, I’d say, week, week and a half.  We responded with additional educational efforts.  We also changed messaging in our system to more clearly state that If you’re getting this reject back, please use this code to override it.  In addition, we’ve removed restrictions from a number of our drugs to allow them to pay at the pharmacy without a restriction.  

So, I think from a transition standpoint, we recognized that there was definitely a problem with it.  And we believe, again, based on our watching the paid claims and the issues and concerns and the call volume, it’s all been improved, which leads me into my one-minute topic on the call centers.

We have a 24-hour, seven-days-a-week pharmacy call center.  Based on all the issues you’ve heard today, they were overwhelmed with calls.  We did have problems with long wait times and abandonment rates.  We took a lot of actions to increase staff, to add answers to the frequently asked questions so while someone was on hold, at least they’d get their question answered, and then they might abandon, but that was a good abandon.  We also were really focused on the root cause of the calls, so if we could address the issue, they wouldn’t have to call.  And I’m pleased to report that we’re well within standard.  Our abandonment rate yesterday was less than 3 percent, and our average wait time was 33 seconds.


For members, we’ve doubled the number of staff handling our member calls.  We did develop an internal call center that’s here in California—it’s actually here in the Sacramento area—to augment our external call center to bring on more staff more quickly.  We increased our phone line capacity, such that we were eliminating our busy signals as of January 25th.  And again, by addressing the root cause of the issues and adding these resources, we’ve been able to improve the performance.  We’re not at goal; it’s not where we need it to be.  But yesterday, our abandonment rate was 10 percent, and our average wait time was 2 minutes and 14 seconds.


So, I would just echo my colleagues’ comments that we are fully committed to making this work and doing all we can to fill the gaps in information, have people available to answer the questions, and provide the information that’s needed.


Thank you.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Thank you, Ms. White.  That was a comprehensive statement.  That’s the kind of information we are looking for in terms of what is the time on the phone calls plus the abandonment piece.  And so, if we can be sure and get that also from WellPoint and from United/PacifiCare, that would be very important.


Just a very few things that were kind of left in my questions:  What are your language and accessibility policy and procedures?  What are the languages that your materials are produced in?  And I think you addressed the specifics on the transition plans.


MS. WHITE:  Yes, thank you.  I did leave out the languages.  We currently produce our materials in both English and Spanish.  We are following the CMS standards and the regulations around what are threshold languages, and for many of our regions, Spanish reaches that threshold.  At this time, no other language has reached that threshold for the publication of written materials.  However, for our call centers, we do have a language line that we use to make sure that we’re able to bridge someone who has any other language other than Spanish and English so that we can communicate with them.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  What percentage do you use to determine if a language is spoken enough that it warrants having someone speak that language on the phone?


MS. WHITE:  At this time we’ve used the CMS regulations which talked about 10 percent in a region.  So, if more than 10 percent of a population within a region—for example, if California is the state—then that language that’s among our enrollment is required to be provided; and in California, Spanish meets that threshold.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  I would think there could be a chance that there might be some Asian language that would come close to that.


MS. WHITE:  It hasn’t yet in our review of our enrollment that we’ve received in the auto-enrollment or in folks who’ve opted in on the enrollment.  But that is, certainly, part of our review of our policies and procedures.

SENATOR ALQUIST:  Thank you very much.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  What is the threshold?


MS. WHITE:  Ten percent.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Of what?


MS. WHITE:  Of the enrolled members in a region, and in this case, the region is the State of California.  For those people enrolled in Health Net, if more than 10 percent of them speak another language, we need to provide those materials in that language.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  You might want to prepare yourselves for possible Tagalog and Vietnamese.


MS. WHITE:  We are an active participant today as Health Net in Medi-Cal, and so, we’re well-versed in the language thresholds that we know are different in the Medi-Cal program.  So, we’re ready for that as it occurs.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Could Stan Rosenstein come up just for a moment to tell us how many languages Medi-Cal is written in?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Our standard is 5 percent, and it’s twelve languages.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  So, your threshold is 5 percent.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Right, and I think that’s the difference.  We’re at 5 percent.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  How many languages?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  There’s twelve languages, including English.  With the exception of the flyer I passed out today, which we couldn’t translate yet, all of our materials for the program were in twelve languages.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Certainly, with such a diverse state as California where we welcome immigrants, as you all do, and as the daughter of an immigrant, I think it would be really important if this information could be put out in more languages.  And I certainly think that the 5 percent threshold instead of the 10 percent is a fair one.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  [Inaudible]


MS. WHITE:  Excuse me?


SENATOR DUCHENY:  The Medicare threshold, not yours.  The CMS threshold.


MS. WHITE:  That’s correct.  We’re following CMS.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Well, I’m putting that out in the universe because I want a lot of people to hear it, and I would like to see a change.


Ms. White, did you have anything else to share?


MS. WHITE:  No, thank you.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Tom Paul, chief pharmacy officer, United/PacifiCare.  Welcome.


MR. PAUL:  Thank you, members of the committee and honored guests.  I’m pleased to be here today.

As my colleagues have stated, we have been a part of this adventure for a significant period of time, and as everyone has said, we are eager to move individuals into this benefit so that they’re actually receiving the prescription drug coverage that they deserve.


We had spent a lot of time prior to January 1 trying to estimate what could be real on the first of January and, as a result of that, spent much time in preparing our call centers, preparing our pharmacy lines, preparing our materials and education in order to avoid some of the confusion that could exist on   January 1.  I think January 1 still came and, as others have said, far exceeded our expectations of anticipated calls that may occur as a result of the implementation of Part D.


To answer some of your questions, we started early on with an education program and material development to help people with the confusion of Part D, and at that point, we started with seven languages, and we continue through that.  Our languages are English, Spanish, Chinese, Russian, Vietnamese, Korean, and Tagalog.  So, those are the seven languages that we work with.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  So, you’re not limited by the standard at the federal level.  You can do more, as you’re doing more languages.


MR. PAUL:  That’s correct.  We are at this point.


We also took into consideration the changes and the challenges that people would be going through on January 1 as we actually developed our program.  And this will somewhat address the transition question that you had.  In essence, as we developed our program, we knew that formulary would be a key and critical issue—especially for the dual-eligible population—where each state, in essence, had its own formulary and may have had a different set of drugs that they encouraged or worked with.  So we, in essence, began the program with a formulary that really covered all Part D eligible drugs.  In regard to that, they were covered from the beginning.  We did include drugs that did require prior authorization.  Primarily, those were to determine whether a drug wasn’t covered under Part B or Part D.


As a part of the transition plan in the early part of the month of January, we realized even that was having challenges, and so, as others have said, we modified that plan.  In reality, we didn’t take the transition plan route; we actually just lifted the edits so that there are no edits in place for those products today.  And we will work through, once the program does stabilize, to work through whether or not we will actually re-implement those edits and those potential prior authorization concerns.

As others have said, we’ve paid close attention to the issues that we were presented with on 1/1.  From a call center perspective, what we could see throughout the month of December was a growing—first—interest in the plans.  We went from receiving probably 20 to 25 thousand applications a day in the beginning of December and ended the month averaging over 75,000 a day.  So, we saw a continued interest grow in the plan, and then, from a call perspective and administering the plan, we went from about 100,000 phone calls a day in December to 400,000 phone calls a day in the month of January.  The majority of those phone calls were for functions that we did not adequately staff for because we didn’t know that they would be issues.  The enrollment and eligibility issues that have been discussed really came about quickly.  We noticed them already on January 1 and began already staffing, as others have said, to compensate for that.  At this point, throughout the month of December, we doubled our call center staff to increase capacity.  Throughout the months of January and February, we are doubling our staff again to, in essence, have around 2,500 call center representatives that take calls throughout the country.


Just from a perspective, we today serve 4.3 million Medicare beneficiaries with the Part D program, whether that be associated with Medicare Advantage or standalone.  We serve 365,000 California residents in our standalone Part D program, of which over 80 percent are dual eligible.  Of those 80 percent, another 80 percent used successfully their program throughout the month of January.  So, it’s that 20 percent that I think is the discussion of this group today that we want to make sure, as we move forward, that we’re adequately handling and correcting them.


One more point that I’d just like to make in regard to what was added as a function to our call center that would have caused the greater capacity, and that really had to do with. . . . I think as Mr. Rosenstein had said, we established a command center that, in essence, for anyone who couldn’t get access to drugs, that a pharmacist—or anyone—who needed that access could call into our call center, and even without approval from CMS of the enrollment, we made sure that we got them enrolled in the system.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  How did they know where to call?


MR. PAUL:  If they were our member . . . 


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Yes, if they were your member, how did they know where to call?


MR. PAUL:  There was basically three ways that they could call.  If they applied with us, we immediately send them a letter before they’re even confirmed that gives them all the information that they would need to call us and/or fill a prescription, even though they may not be approved through us.  And then, immediately following the approval, we send them a letter, and we send them their ID card; all three of which would have a phone number in which they could call us.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Question:  Do you have at your fingertips the information on the calling in and the wait time and the abandonment and all that?


MR. PAUL:  Yes.  As others have said, if I was to report our January 1 numbers, I wouldn’t be pleased to announce those numbers, but we’ve made significant progress throughout the month and to continue to hope to have even greater progress.  We do have a line for pharmacists, as others have stated, 24 hours, seven days a week.  And we also have a line for consumers—or members—that want to call in.  Our wait time, depending upon the time of day and/or the day of the week, can range anywhere from a minute to up to ten minutes in regard to the types of calls that come in.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  What about the abandonment—hanging up on you?

MR. PAUL:  I’m not sure how other plans measure, but CMS requires you to measure the abandonment rate based on a 30-second interval; and so, how many people are abandoning after 30 seconds of trying to get a hold.  Our measurement is actually if they hang up after a second.  So, if someone calls and gets in, then we measure it from that point.  I don’t have the official CMS measurement; I have it how we measure.  And again, the abandonment rate, depending upon the day, can range at this point anywhere from 10 percent up to 20 percent.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Thank you.


What are your language and accessibility policy and procedures, and how fast do you make alternative formats like Braille and larger fonts available when asked?  You mentioned the languages.  I was impressed.  That was the seven different languages—the Tagalog and Russian and all of them.


MR. PAUL:  Correct.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  But if you could answer those questions, please.


MR. PAUL:  In addition, that’s our printed materials.  So, if someone was calling in—as others have stated—we do have a language line that has greater than the seven language lines available, as well as additional assistance available for those that need information in Braille or are hard of hearing.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Thank you.  

In just moment, I’m going to go to two members who have questions also.  I just would like to say that I’m hoping that you all can learn from each other on best practices because I’m impressed with some things that each of you are doing, and I hope you are—I’m sure you are—listening to each other.


As an example, CMS may have a certain standard on how many languages, but California’s California, and we are different than other states, and we really do need information in more than just five languages.  It’s obvious to me, and I’m sure many of us, that there’s nothing stopping us from doing the information in more languages.


And I was very pleased with the information that once you have someone enrolled, that they get a letter from you, that you educate them, that you give them information on how to contact you and all those pieces that are really important.


We were talking about it earlier—I think there are a lot of seniors who are quite lucid who can be confused by this Medicare drug prescription process.  It can confuse anybody—middle age, young, or any age.  And so, we really need to see that all people understand everything they need to see.  


And I would commend you also on seeing where you were and where you need to go.  That’ll make it better for all of us in California.


I have Senator Ducheny and then Assemblywoman Berg.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


I don’t know how much any of you individually—and maybe you have to get back later on this—were involved with the design of this program in Washington, or as members of PHRMA were involved at some level.


UNIDENTIFIED:  [Inaudible]


SENATOR DUCHENY:  None of you are members of PHRMA?  Okay.  So, you’re just picking this up as plans that became. . . . I mean, we’ve got eighteen plans, I understand, in California, of which you are three.  Or do you all represent more than one?


MS. WHITE:  I think we represent five here total with the three of us.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Between the three of you, you represent five.  But am I right on the 18, or 48?  Which one is it?  Forty-eight plans are available to people in California?  Fifty-eight.  And all of those take Medi-Cal?  


MS. WHITE:  There were ten plans in California who, when they bid to be a sponsor for Medicare, they came in under what’s called the “regional benchmark,” which was, in essence, the average bid, and those ten plans received the auto-enrolled dual eligibles.  So, Health Net’s one of those ten—and you have a representative here from some of the other plans within those ten plans that are involved in the dual eligibles.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Where I’m trying to go with this a little bit, I just want to understand who’s dealing with what.  If, in fact, we were able to persuade Congress to take Medi-Cal dual eligibles out of this program, what would be the impact on the overall program?  I mean, in terms of your ability to provide coverage, does it impact how much you charge, how much you pay?  Because we are facing a dilemma—and I don’t know how it impacts your bottom line—but we are facing the dilemma that I identified earlier with the federal government.  It’s costing the federal government more, it’s costing us more, and it’s costing our constituents more individually than our prior system in which Medi-Cal covered that which Medicare did not.  So, untangling the beast to try to figure out how to save money in this program that was supposed to save somebody money is what’s troubling to us.  And I don’t know how to begin to look at what the value—or not value.  Maybe you’re not getting subsidized appropriately for the Medi-Cal dual eligibles either—I don’t know that—or whether you’re making a profit on them and that’s where the money that none of us are saving is going—no offense.  I don’t know how to analyze that from a financial perspective.  You know what I mean?  Because adverse selection and how big’s your pool?  I know that’s part of how you have to look at this Medicare Part D.


MR. PAUL:  I think, in general, the question is. . . . I mean, you’re getting at the crux of the issue, that as plan sponsors bid to participate in the program, it really is bid as an insurance program.  And so, you are bidding with an assumption of the type of population or the type of drug utilization that you would receive.  I can say in general that you will probably find differing opinions amongst the plans as to whether the inclusion of dual eligibles provides a greater risk or a lesser risk.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  That’s fair.


MR. PAUL:  And so, it may vary by plan as they bid their program as to how they would bid their rates, assuming that they may or may not get dual eligibles.  And again, at the time that you bid, you don’t know if you are even going to be awarded dual eligibles because you have to have fallen below the regional benchmark and not . . . 


SENATOR DUCHENY:  What does that mean, below the regional benchmark?  In terms of what?  Below what?


MR. PAUL:  For instance, let’s say it’s fifty plans in the State of California.  What they do is they average the premiums related to the bid submissions, and the average becomes what’s determined as the regional benchmark.  So, any plan with a premium below the average . . . 


SENATOR DUCHENY:  If you were the low bidder, you got stuck with the Medi-Cal folks?


MR. PAUL:  You were provided.


MS. WHITE:  We didn’t see it that way at all.  If you were under the regional benchmark, you were awarded the dual eligibles.  And I’m quite serious.  

SENATOR DUCHENY:  Yes, okay.  In other words, the folks that didn’t do that are creaming the folks, without having to deal with the Medi-Cal issues.


MS. WHITE:  They have different issues, but I can’t speak for them since I’m not one of those people.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  I mean, the tricky part here is now it’s the highest paid people are not having to deal with the issues that are more important to the public in a broader sense of the word.  They’re basically creaming the population.


MS. WHITE:  Well, I would say that all health plans, whether they had dual eligibles or not, experienced the enrollment difficulties.  And there are folks who are not dually eligible but still are eligible for low-income subsidy.  So, those would be experienced by all plans.  


I don’t think I can comment on the rest of your comments, but I would just say that there were industry-wide experiences related to the startup of the program unrelated to dual eligibles.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  But that was an interesting way that the federal government set that up then, so that the benchmark was, if you were a low bidder, then you had the opportunity to serve the Medi-Cal population and deal with this overwhelming number of immediate needs.

I think the other piece of the caution is:  How can we separate these programs, and might it have been easier or better, or may it still be better, if we separated the deadlines related to the dual eligibles from the deadlines related to the broader population?  In other words, if you had been able to implement one program before you had to be trying to do both programs at once, I don’t know what that would have done to the system; or, if we were still able to do that, would it matter?  I’m real worried about running up against this in May in the other universe again.


MS. RAWLINGS:  Let me add just one comment, and then you guys may have something else you want to add.  


Number one, I would agree with you.  I do consider it, and I think our company did consider it, an award.  I think we are working very hard.  From a customer perspective, whether they’re low income or high income, we try our best to treat everybody as best as we possibly can.  They’re all a customer to us.  


I would also make one comment.  I think we’re seeing so much movement to make this more effective for the dual-eligible beneficiaries.  WellPoint does, for example, as we talked about a moment ago, have a solution electronically at the pharmacy for those duals who have a problem in the marketplace getting what they need, to have their drugs dispensed to them right there at the pharmacy, with the reconciliation work happening outside of the beneficiary . . .

SENATOR DUCHENY:  We don’t have that in place yet, which is why Medi-Cal is still making up for the . . .


MS. RAWLINGS:  Well, it’s technically in place.  I think the basic program is in place where we’re capturing people who were missed in the auto-assignment program who didn’t get assigned to one of us.  Or, in some cases, a person will come to a pharmacy with a competitor’s card or without their letter—we are all required to give letters, for example—without their letter and they can’t put them through the E-1 system, they’ll go ahead and put them through the WellPoint system.  We’ve paid out $25 million through the 30th of January on these folks that are basically unknown—we don’t know where they are right now.  So, we know that it’s working.  


And I guess I would argue that I think we are learning from each other; we are working together.  I think if we change something too radically too soon, we’ll make the progress diminish significantly and perhaps make the problem worse.  I think we need to keep on keeping on, so to speak.  That’s my view.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  On this point, Mr. Paul?


MR. PAUL:  I just wanted to add one thing.  As you are exploring options to better serve California residents, we also have experience.  As others have said, it was our intent to serve and our honor to serve dual eligibles primarily as a result of the relationship that we already have through our special needs plans and the fact that we serve a significant number of dual-eligible individuals both institutionalized and in the community.


What we have done and what other states have also considered and have implemented are really, again, a coordination with the states, federal government, and the plans to really wrap around Part D.  In essence, if what you’re considering is how to lower the co-payments for your dual eligibles and the federal government program has assigned dual eligibles at a one- and three-dollar co-pay, there are programs that, in essence, the state has picked up the one- and three-dollar, and it’s done in such a way that it’s somewhat seamless to the beneficiary.

SENATOR DUCHENY:  Yes, but if this weren’t already costing us hundreds of millions of dollars in lost drug rebates, we probably would be able to do that. 


Who does the drug cost deals—you or the federal government—with respect to how much you have to pay, then, for the drug under this program?


UNIDENTIFIED:  We do.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  You do directly.


UNIDENTIFIED:  Yes.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  So then, it would impact you.  In theory—and I don’t want to get proprietary about this—but in theory, then, because you have the larger pool of people, including the dual eligibles, you theoretically might be able to negotiate a better rate with the pharmacy on a given drug.  The pharmaceuticals, not the pharmacy.  Right?


MS. WHITE:  The pharmaceutical manufacturer, if that’s what you mean.

SENATOR DUCHENY:  Yes.


MS. WHITE:  Yes.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  But it’s not a universal rate that the federal government negotiated for Medicare.  So, you may be paying one rate, and some other plan may be paying a different rate, and the reason we can’t pay the co-pays is because we are now paying a higher rate because we used to have those million people, and then we could get the rebates.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Well, you got that right.  


Now we have Assemblywoman Berg.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I just have a couple of questions.


I had to sign up my 91-year-old mother—I signed her up into a plan.  She resides in a skilled nursing facility in Seattle.  I’ve yet to receive my formulary, so one of my questions is related to the formularies.  How often do you anticipate individual plans changing their formularies?  And in addition to the 60-day notice requirement for beneficiaries, how will you ease the transition for your members?  I mean, I wish that we could go, obviously, back to the beginning, but if we could have had a uniform transition plan, period, for all the health plans, I think it would have made so much sense.  

So, with the issue of formularies, how often do you plan changing them?  And, how are you going to ease the transition for your members?


MR. PAUL:  I can talk on behalf of our plan.  You know, we do not intend to make what we call “negative changes,” meaning a change that would cause a beneficiary to pay a higher amount.  We may make changes throughout the year if a drug comes to market.  Obviously, we’ll want to review and get that drug included in the formulary as soon as possible.  But we, at this point, do not intend to make what we call “negative changes.”


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  But my understanding was, that. . . . I mean, this is what I’ve heard also from HICAP, that a plan can change their formulary at any time, but they have to give notice.  That could be weekly, but you’d still have to give notice.


MR. PAUL:  A plan can change their formulary.  They would have to notify CMS of the change first, and then, as you said, they would have to notify not only beneficiaries that are taking that drug, but the physicians and the pharmacies dispensing that drug of the change.  And then, once the communication has occurred, allow sixty days in order for a change to happen if there was a negative impact to the consumer.  So, whereas plans have that opportunity—as I said, we’ve elected at this point not to make those changes.


MS. RAWLINGS:  And I think what I’d like to add, if I might, is that typically in a health plan, we don’t change the formulary weekly.  What might happen weekly is the addition of new generic manufacturers come out with another of the same medication that’s already on the formulary.  We make changes like that into the claims system, but in terms of actually changing the formulary listing, it’s really usually driven by our Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee, which is a collection of practicing physicians and pharmacists who weigh in on the clinical merits of new medications or perhaps an entire therapeutic class for the treatment of diseases reviewed.  That occurs quarterly and could result in some change on the formulary listing.  But I would actually reassure that it’s not done in a quick fashion nor in a capricious manner.  It’s really done very methodically.  It always begins with a clinical review of the merits in the medication.  The CMS notification is required.  They’ve indicated that they plan to comment on that review, so they’ve actually recommended that we wait to start our 60-day notice until after we’ve given them thirty days to review and, in essence, approve it and then go ahead with the 60-day notice.  So, I don’t think you’re going to see wild swings in the formulary.  It certainly is not our intent at all to ever do that with the formulary.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  Well, it will just be interesting to watch.  I mean, my eyes will certainly be on that one.


My other question is, I think that we all can acknowledge that the problems aren’t necessarily going to go away anytime soon because, obviously, we have more people to enroll, and many of those folks are really waiting because they read all the negative articles that are coming out in all of the national papers.  And beneficiaries and their physicians will, I think, continue to encounter problems.  So, what are your long-range plans for consumer assistance, aside from your call centers?


MS. WHITE:  Well, I could start with that.  From a Health Net perspective, one of the efforts that we plan in the near term—we have to have our letters and our scripts approved by CMS for anything that is sent to a member, but we’re in the drafting stage at this time—is to make an individual letter to the members, in essence explaining what happened.  Not all of them may have experienced difficulty, but for those who did, we want to explain what we know about it and what we’ve done to rectify the situation and what we have in place to prevent it from occurring.  So, we think that member outreach by letter is one effort along that way.


I will say that from a call center standpoint in terms of giving people the messages for people who call in, we are constantly updating that with new information about efforts to better inform the person about what to expect.  And as I think my colleagues have both mentioned, we all send an acknowledgement letter before we’ve gotten the enrollment confirmed that begins that educational process.  And I think as we’ve all learned, to the month of January, now may be the time to re-look at those letters, get them re-approved by CMS if we need to change the message.  

I think we’re all aware of the risk each month of additional challenges with enrollment and low-income subsidy information, and it’s trying to be proactive to really help meet the expectations or set the expectations for someone who enrolls on the 25th of the month that realistically, you know, if we get all the information from CMS, we have about a five-day turnaround time to get it into our eligibility system, get the ID card out the door.  We’re really pleased that it’s only five days, but if that enrollment started on the 25th on the Web, it takes a while to get to us.  And so, it’s definitely after the first before there’s something in the members’ hands.  We want to help explain that to the member.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  What I would recommend is that you consider having a group of seniors review the letter before you send it out.  I mean, aside from three-quarters of seniors never going on line, so why all this Medicare information is on line, it is so confusing.  I mean, I have PhDs who have said to me, I can’t understand it.  So, it needs to be written in not a bureaucratic tone in terms of your outreach.  The only outreach I’ve seen other than—what’s the drug store?  Walgreens?  You know, Just walk in our door, and we can help you, is Health Net.  I’ve seen some outreach there in terms of TV, so.


Okay, thank you.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Madam Chair?  Can I do one follow-up? because that raised an issue.


The way I count, we’re about ten weeks out until everybody who’s not in this system—forget the dual eligibles for a minute—gets penalized for not having signed up.  In view of the negative publicity for over the last month everywhere in the country and all of this, I’m concerned that people are going to be adverse to signing up and/or sign up and be delayed, maybe, in getting information, whatever.  I mean, what you said was you’re sending letters to members.  At this point, the universe of nonmembers, what are we doing to deal with those folks and the fact that whatever plan they might sign up for will cost them more on May 16th than on May 15th?  And that’s only ten weeks from now.


MS. WHITE:  It’s actually fourteen, I’m pleased to say.  February, March, April, and then half of May, so we have three-and-a-half months still.  But I know from a Health Net perspective, what we’ve been doing is we have done some television work but also mailing campaigns to potential Medicare members, just trying to make it simple; to try to break it down and make it a better decision, an easier decision, for them to make by keeping it simple.  And that’s been our approach, is putting more into reaching out to people in advance.  We have an 800 number that goes on, on that.  We’ve staffed another call center, but they’re more of a sales call center to explain the program, help walk through the, Well, I heard this from this other plan, and to try to help them navigate.  Obviously, it’s proprietary.  I mean, it’s Health Net encouraging to get enrollment.  But that’s really our approach, is to try to make it simpler.  

I personally, about a week ago, spoke to a group of about 120 seniors in Folsom, and my whole purpose was not to sell them on Health Net—I mean, I work for Health Net, obviously—but the organization was just to explain things and try to get rid of some of the rumors and dispel some of the myths and misinformation that’s out there.  I know that’s another thing that our company is very committed to is the community outreach individually such as that.

SENATOR DUCHENY:  And just one clarifying thing.  After the May date, you don’t get penalized unless you were already Medicare eligible on that date.  Right?  If you enroll in July in Medicare, how do you find out, and what’s the deadline for you to sign up for all of these things at once?

MR. PAUL:  If you become Medicare eligible—so, let’s say your birthday is July 1st and you turn 65—I believe you have 60 days before and 60 days after to join a plan, around your birth date.  Again, if it’s July 1st, you’d have from. . . . well, during the open enrollment period . . .


SENATOR DUCHENY:  You’d have 60 days.


MR. PAUL:  Yes.

SENATOR DUCHENY:  And those same penalties that apply to everybody else in May would apply to you?


MR. PAUL:  Yes.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  But we’re hoping, too—that we talked earlier on this same point—that hopefully, there’ll be some penalties that are not enacted if people in the way that they can sign up, when they can, do that.


MR. PAUL:  I think there’s one additional point . . . 


SENATOR ALQUIST:  What I heard is that there would not be penalties.


Ms. White, that’s not what you said earlier?


MS. WHITE:  I don’t believe so.  Could you be clearer for me anyway?  I’m sorry, I’m not understanding.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  It was on the question of people who sign up after the deadline.  Do they face penalties?


MS. WHITE:  I don’t think I answered that question, but I will now.  The CMS requirement is if you sign up after May 15th, then you’ll pay a one percent premium penalty for each month . . .


SENATOR ALQUIST:  For the rest of your life.  It’s not a lump sum.  And so, what I was saying earlier—and I misunderstood.  I thought there was a commitment to waive that penalty because you get information when you get it and you act upon it after you get the information.


MS. WHITE:  No, I think we were talking differently at the time you had asked the question about the payments that were received from Medicare and our repayment to the state—those commitments.

SENATOR ALQUIST:  Well, then I have a new question, and my new question is, it doesn’t seem fair that you would have to pay in perpetuity this penalty when perhaps information was not given out for them to make informed decisions at an appropriate time.  I’m just saying there ought to be a way, possibly either to waive the penalty or to see that it’s a very small, one-time payment instead of going on forever.  That doesn’t seem fair.

MR. PAUL:  That’s federal government.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Okay.  So, that’s federal government.


MS. RAWLINGS:  I was going to say, from our perspective—I mean, I think that really is a federal government issue; it’s the way the law is written.  


SENATOR ALQUIST:  That’s another thing we need to change.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  Because, Senator, it was the motivator of the federal—I mean, the federal government said this will motivate people to sign up quicker.  That’s why there is that penalty. 


SENATOR ALQUIST:  It motivates more money to come into the pot, is what it does.


Anyway, we really need to move on.  If you each want twenty seconds, go right ahead, but that’s it because we have one more panel.  Twenty seconds.


MR. PAUL:  I just have one more word of encouragement.  As you were talking about outreach and what’s important as we move forward, we talked about the May 15th deadline, which is really for all Medicare beneficiaries to enroll in the program, and we talked a lot about the dual-eligible population that, for the most part, is auto-assigned into a plan.  There is a significant portion of the population that is eligible for subsidies that lower their co-pays significantly, eliminates their premiums, and covers prescription drugs through the coverage gap.  But those individuals not only have to apply for Part D, they have to apply to qualify for that subsidy.  

One of the things that we have been strongly advocating—and we’re working with outreach coalitions to do—is to make sure people are applying for that subsidy because it would be a shame to leave those dollars on the table.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  So, that’s something good that you are working on—you all are working on.  Great.


Ms. White, you have twenty seconds you want to end with?

MS. WHITE:  I have nothing else to add.  Thank you.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Ms. Rawlings?


MS. RAWLINGS:  I would only second what Tom said.  I think it’s very important that folks know what they’re eligible for, and I think it would help if everyone’s communicating about that and enabling that signing up.  It will help those people get what they need.


SENATOR ALQUIST:  Thank you.  Ms. Coons?  No?  Okay.  Thank you very much.  We really appreciate that.


Now we are going to the final panel, and my able counterpart in the Assembly, Ms. Berg, who chairs the Committee on Aging and Long-term Care, will chair this, which is Panel V.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  Thank you, Senator.  

This is our final panel, and I’ll have all five of them step up to the table.  We have David Lipschutz, who is the staff attorney with the California Health Advocates; Angela Gilliard, legislative advocate with Western Center on Law and Poverty; Gary Passmore, director of the Congress of California Seniors; Marty Omoto, director of the California Disability Community Action Network; and Ramón Castellblanch, a representative from the Senior Action Network and California Alliance of Retired Americans.

Because we had intended that the hearing would end at five—but it was so important, I believe, that we hear from everyone—I’m going to limit folks to five minutes, and we’ll be really tight on the time.  If you have any written materials, please hand them to the sergeants, and they’ll distribute it to all of us.


Our first witness will be Mr. David Lipschutz.  


Welcome, David.


MR. DAVID LIPSCHUTZ:  Thank you, Madam Chairperson and committee members. My name is David Lipschutz, and I work for California Health Advocates, which is a nonprofit organization dedicated to education and beneficiary on behalf of California Medicare beneficiaries.


I’d like to say that there are many advocacy organizations that are not represented on this panel that also care deeply about the issues that are plaguing Medicare beneficiaries during the Part D rollout—organizations that deal with Medicare, Medi-Cal, seniors, individuals with disabilities, and several others.


Part of what my agency does is provide support to (but we do not administer) the state HICAP program.  This afternoon I’d like to briefly outline some of the problems that we’ve seen beneficiaries encounter, give a brief report on the HICAP network, and then make some suggestions for some federal and state fixes to this Part D disaster.


The Medicare Part D rollout has been plagued with problems that have led to many dual eligibles going without their prescription drugs or paying out of pocket well beyond their means.  This has occurred because of a number of issues, as you’ve heard about already today, including data systems, problems from CMS, CMS contractors, and Part D plans, and the inability of beneficiaries and pharmacists to reach Part D plans.  And I’d like to say that from the field, the response times are not quite in line with what we just heard from the Part D plan representatives.  Beneficiaries are still having problems getting through to plans, as are pharmacists.  Also, the inability of customer service representatives from 1-800-Medicare and the plans to accurately answer information and to troubleshoot problems.  Also, the inability to obtain first-fills of prescription drugs.  And a problem that will become more epidemic in the near-term future is problems accessing the exceptions and appeals process under Medicare Part D.


The HICAP network has felt the full force of the Part D tidal wave, and they are making Herculean efforts to try to assist their clients that are impacted by Part D.  But even with extensive preparation, the network is struggling to meet unprecedented demand.  Simply put, the need far outweighs the current capacity.  Some programs report that their call volume in the month of January is up 1,000 percent.  Even if there was one advocate per beneficiary in the State of California, it would still not address some of the underlying systemic problems that we are seeing during the rollout of Medicare Part D.


We know that there will be ongoing problems with this rollout, even when the data systems are fixed.  Part of this problem is due to the fact that this Part D benefit completely relies on private plans to administer an essentially public benefit.  This is the root of one of the problems, and it will continue to be the root of one of the problems.  

There will be continuing data issues even once the current problems are fixed.  This will lead to gaps in coverage and cost assistance.  There are already problems accessing the Part D appeals process.  There are problems finding pharmacies, especially in rural areas, that happen to contract with Part D plans that take dual eligibles for which they don’t have to pay a premium.


This crisis is anything but temporary and will not go away in ten days when the funds under AB 132 expire.  There are some potential fixes, some of which require federal legislation.  In order to fix a broken system which should include allowing the Medicare program to administer this Part D drug benefit, it would include extended Medicaid coverage and reimbursement for states and allow the federal government to negotiate prices with pharmaceutical companies. 


There are also administrative fixes that the federal government can undertake now.  The federal Department of Health and Human Services and CMS can remove the kid gloves with which they handle Part D plans and impose more strict, meaningful requirements instead of recommendations on plans relating to their formularies, their transition plans, and their appeals processes.


We applaud the state, both the Governor and the Legislature, for stepping in to provide emergency coverage to the state’s most vulnerable, but it must be clear that this crisis will not fade and the state has an obligation to protect its citizens when the federal government fails to do so.  The state should retain safety-net coverage for dual eligibles.  The emergency coverage must be made permanent to catch the dual eligibles who will perpetually fall through the cracks of the Medicare Part D system.  The state can, and must, help with dual-eligible co-pays.  They will be paying costs, and are paying costs now, that they did not pay before, and for them, it’s a matter of survival—a choice between paying for their drugs or paying for their groceries and their rent.

I’ll conclude there.  Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  Thank you, Mr. Lipschutz.


I think just as a matter of time, I’m going to let all our panelists speak before I take any questions from members.


Our next speaker will be Angela.  Welcome, Angela.


MS. ANGELA GILLIARD:  Thank you, Madam Chairman and members.  


My name’s Angela Gilliard.  I’m the legislative advocate with Western Center on Law and Poverty.  I won’t repeat a lot of what Mr. Lipschutz said in his testimony because the problems that he’s seeing—or that his organization is reporting—are consistent with what we’ve seen at Western Center.


I’d like to say that Western Center along with California Health Advocates, Protection and Advocacy, the Rural Institute of Disabilities, Project Inform—a number of organizations—for a year have been pounding the pavement about Part D.  We’ve really seen a lot of these problems coming, and we’ve been very much alarmed.


While advocates have been meeting with CMS and with the state, I’d like to just point out that it’s not the advocates’ role to inform 1.2 million Medi-Cal dual eligibles.  It is much more than what our organizational capacity can bear.  Western Center is a collaborative member and provides substantive support to the Health Consumer Alliance.


In your packages, we have a couple of handouts, and I just wanted to point your attention to it.  One is a background sheet; the other is a list of representative stories.  And you have this plastic, laminated piece that pretty much has our health consumer centers that are located in—the nine centers—that are located in thirteen counties, the languages that the advocates speak—and advocates provide one-on-one counseling.  

I get emails daily on the problems with Medicare Part D, even following the announcement of emergency coverage.  Even with the passage of AB 132, we’re still having difficulties with pharmacies understanding that the coverage is available.  We’re having problems with clients understanding what they can do, what they should do, and how should they navigate through this.  And just as you heard at the very top of these informational hearings, one client said she just wasn’t quite sure how she got in the plan she’s in.  That’s very common.  Many, many clients just don’t know.


I would like to say that even if the time comes when Part D is operating the way it’s envisioned, it is a flawed plan for the Medi-Cal dual eligible.  A Medi-Cal dual eligible with an average income of 800-some-odd dollars a month—812, 824, 832 dollars, whatever that range is—cannot afford a dollar to three dollars’ co-pay per month.  The average Medi-Cal dual eligible takes twelve to fifteen prescriptions per month.  Some way higher than that—twenty prescriptions.  In the information I passed out, there was one dual eligible that took twenty.  And even if the co-pay amount was right at the pharmacy—if they had the right amount—you’re still looking at, potentially, $60 a month on an $832-a-month income.  That is not sustainable.  A client may be able to do it one month, but they’re giving up something essential.  So, the next month they have to make that decision, and then the following month and the following month.  It is not a program that this group of people can sustain.  They cannot, even if all of the system problems we’ve heard are fixed.  Even if everything is working the way it was envisioned, it is just fatally flawed from that perspective alone.


And for that reason, if this program remains in place, if the federal program remains in place, the states must act.  There must be a state safety net because people will not be able to afford their prescription drugs.  That’s just the bottom line.  So, we need a state solution.  

In the package, I have four—they’re kind of large categories—but four outlines of what the state can do to enact legislation beyond the emergency.  

· The state must remain payer of last resort.  
· The state must alleviate co-pay burdens on beneficiaries.  
· The state must establish a system to provide counseling assistance, technical support for beneficiaries and others (as Mr. Lipschutz says).


If there was an advocate per beneficiary, it would still not solve all of the problems.  The advocacy networks out here are inundated.  There are other advocacy networks working with HICAP and working in a standalone capacity that are providing advocacy, and like I say, we’re inundated.

· The state must engage in aggressive outreach, even on the AB 132.  

The word is not out completely.  People do not know.  Pharmacists do not know.  The state has to take the role of getting the word out to people.


My time is up.  I would just say, in the next ten days these problems will not be fixed.  The state must continue the emergency coverage well beyond the ten-day period and then put something in place that is a safety net.


Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  Thank you so much.


Gary Passmore, director of the Congress of California Seniors.


Welcome, Gary.


MR. GARY PASSMORE:  Good evening, Madam Chair and members of the committee.  

I’m Gary Passmore, director of the Congress of California Seniors.  I believe you all have a written statement from me up there, and I hope you will take the time to go through it carefully because I and some other seniors put a lot of thought into it.  I’d like to hit on a couple of big issues that we see and then summarize some of the big solutions that we think need to occur.


The first one is that seniors are overwhelmed.  You’ve heard it all day.  Trust me, they are.  Family helpers are overwhelmed by this system.  Counselors are overwhelmed by this program.  The confusion is incredible, and people, as Assemblymember Berg said—very competent, educated, well-informed people—struggle to understand all the complexities of this program.  So, seniors are not signing up.  At some point soon there will be a day of reckoning because this is insurance, and well people need to pay those premiums in order to offset some of the costs of the sick people who are using the service.  If seniors don’t sign up because they’re confused or because they’re put off by the negative publicity, this system will fall under its own weight.  And you need to understand that you may be left holding an empty bag here in very short order.


Number two, the program is clearly not working well for poor, cognitively impaired, or non-English-speaking people.  You’ve heard that from a number of witnesses.  I won’t go into detail.  I will simply make the somewhat cynical remark that these were probably not the marketing target of the healthcare insurance industry that paid Congress so handsomely to pass this plan.


Number three, many of us suspect that the problems that we see are not limited to the transition time period or to the Medi-Cal population.  We suspect that many of them, as Angela just said, are fundamental and permanent, and we’ll be struggling with them until we look for fundamental fixes.


There’s very little that’s happened here that we didn’t see.  We warned CMS, you warned CMS, the Administration warned CMS, and we were ignored or we were assured that they had it covered.  We heard it all:  We heard assurances, and all we’re still hearing is the good news and the optimistic talk.  But I will tell you that seniors feel that their trust has been violated.  And I know I speak for many California seniors when I say I don’t believe a word they say today.


Now, that’s where seniors are.  Let me presume to give you and other members of the Legislature some points about fixes that we see that need to be made.


CCS has been working closely with other senior advocates, with healthcare advocates, with Medicare advocates, monitoring these problems and trying to develop solutions.  And I don’t speak for these organizations individually, but many groups are considering these ideas.


First, we believe that you need to extend this emergency program.  We’ve heard that from a number of sources today.  We believe that seniors and persons with disabilities will be denied their medicine if we don’t have something in place to replace this emergency program or extend it.  And the federal government should pay for this.  If we have to claw back the clawback, we should make sure they pay.  I understand we’ve got a payment due coming up fairly soon.  I hope that someone has the nerve to hold that payment until we’ve got it, as Senator Alquist said, in writing.

Number two:  We need to make sure that seniors and pharmacists who paid out of pocket prior to January 12th are being made whole and fully paid, and we ought to get that in writing as well because I don’t trust them.


Number three:  The terrible problems that we encountered in the first several days will continue for the 10 to 15 thousand new Medi-Cal-eligible people every month.  They will continue for new Medicare-eligible people every month.  They will confront the people who switch plans and whose coverage falls apart for some period of time.


And we haven’t talked about it today, but new residents of nursing homes who show up at the nursing home and are not pre-enrolled in a Medicare Part D plan are going to not have drug coverage in that nursing home unless the state acts.  I believe Assemblymember Berg is drafting, or has written, a bill to deal with that specific issue.  

So, what I’m saying is, I am convinced, and I think most seniors are convinced, that we need an ongoing fallback program.  We need to get an extension on the May 15th date, and we absolutely need to find a way to hold harmless the million dual eligibles who are facing co-payments.  We need specifically to deal with those duals who are in assisted living and RCFEs who live on virtually no cash income whatsoever.  

At another time I will tell you that you need to think about this benefit not as a benefit.  This isn’t a benefit.  You don’t talk about enrolling in an automobile accident benefit.  This is private insurance that we are selling seniors in California, and they need consumer protection.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  Thank you very much, Gary.  I appreciate also your written testimony.  All of your written testimonies.  Know that those will be read very carefully.  The bill that you recommended, which is the fix on the nursing homes, is AB 1930.


Marty Omoto, welcome.


MR. MARTY OMOTO:  Thank you, Assemblywoman Berg.  It’s great to be the second-to-last speaker at 5:30 on the last panel.  [Laughter]  I’m sure I hold your attention completely.


My name is Marty Omoto.  I’m the director of the California Disability Community Action Network.  We’re a nonpartisan statewide advocacy group cross disability.  

Earlier today you heard the face and the voice of what a person who is dually eligible looked like.  That was Tracy.  And you heard the story of Mr. Rivera.  I want to show you three more faces.  This is Warren Mattingly from San Luis Obispo.  He has come to this hearing room many times to fight for his rights and to speak against budget cuts, to speak against cuts to SSI.  He actually tried to move to San Diego and couldn’t find any housing, so he ended up for three months living in a laundry room.  This man is a dual eligible, but remember his face and remember his name because he does not want to be institutionalized.  Peter Stoner, another friend.  He has come up here a couple of times, too, to speak for his rights.  And this is a picture of my sister, Elena.  She passed away three years ago.  She was a dual eligible as well.  

I can tell you, to be dually eligible in Medi-Cal and Medicare, even before Part D, was overwhelming for any family when your sibling or your family member is in a hospital or facing a healthcare crisis. There were times when my father, who’s now in his late seventies, could not deal with the amount of mail or inquiries from the different agencies that served my sister.  It was the Department of Social Services in Monterey County; it was CMS; it was the regional centers; it was Social Security.  And when you’re dealing with a healthcare crisis and you’re getting all this mail, what do you do?  He would turn that stuff over to me, and even I couldn’t figure a lot of the information out.  

Now we are confronted with a new program, and that’s a program that’s coming on top of a population of people with disabilities and seniors who, for the most part, are in constant transition.  They are moving often from hospital to nursing home, back to home, back to another nursing home, or back to an acute care hospital, and that process repeats again.  And so, there’s confusion and panic of this crisis which this drug program only compounds.  We fight every day—my sister when she was alive and everyone else.  They fight to remain in the community, but this drug program makes that fight unfair and difficult.  


I do want to, however, credit the Department of Health Services—especially Stan Rosenstein—the Department of Developmental Services/Carol Risley, even the Secretary of the Health and Human Services Agency, Kim Belshe, in being very open and candid in providing information to help us.  But the problem, the crisis, remains.


There’s a safety net that we talk about, but that safety net is only as good as the net itself, and because of constant cuts to budgets that serve people with disabilities and seniors over the past five years, there are so many holes in that safety net.  And so, people who matter in this program are not being reached.  They’re not being reached.  People like Mr. Rivera.  People like Warren Mattingly.  They fall through the cracks, and I wonder if their names show up among the numbers of the 200,000 that Department of Health Services has.

The recommendations I’ll make—and some are repeated:  We definitely urge the extension of the emergency drug coverage program, but we urge you to do that now.  Don’t wait.  It’s unfair to make people with disabilities and seniors, already in confusion and panic, to wait any longer, with more uncertainty.  And to make it indefinite.  We know there’s a risk in doing that because the federal government may not reimburse us.  And we know that risk even more so because we know that if the federal government does not reimburse California, that money is coming from us—from budget cuts that serve people with disabilities.


We urge you also to provide information that is consistent, that has specific information about reimbursements for co-payments, for premiums, for drugs that may not be on a formulary.  There are differences in terms of reimbursements for a person who’s served by regional centers as opposed to another person.  There’s no consistent information out there.  And urge that a single hotline has all the consistent information out there so that every agency has the same thing.


Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  Thank you very much, Mr. Omoto.  I appreciate your testimony.

Our final witness on this panel is Dr. Ramón Castellblanch, representing both the Senior Action Network and the California Alliance of Retired Americans.  


Welcome.


DR. RAMÓN CASTELLBLANCH:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair, committee members.


I want to second what all of my colleagues have said here today.  This is a very serious crisis for seniors and dual eligibles across California.  


Of course, I’m the last speaker, so I’ll try and get through as quickly as I can.


Senator Ducheny asked, you know, Where is all this money going?  Well, the insurance industry didn’t get involved in this to lose money, and a lot of the money is going there.  This is the very same insurance industry that created so many problems for the Medicare program back in the late 1990s when the insurers got into the Medicare business, took a lot of money out, and then left a whole lot of seniors flat.  They often make their money by not paying claims, by leaving people flat.  And these are some of the very same businesses that are back again today in California with the seniors and the dual eligibles under our new Part D arrangement.

The problems that we’re seeing are problems that are typical of private insurers.  This is not new stuff.  The dual eligibles who couldn’t get their 30-day supplies, I’m told that the insurers were all advised by CMS—at least twice—that they were supposed to give them these 30-day supplies.  However, they didn’t anyway.  This was a choice that the insurers made.  This was not a glitch.  This was not a computer problem.  This was something that the insurance industry decided to do, some of them, themselves.  


We had phone lines that were overwhelmed.  What a surprise.  Insurers should know how many people they have coming in.  They should know the kinds of problems that they’re going to be facing, and yet, they are understaffed, as many of us who have to deal with the insurance industry often find that they are.  This is not new.  This is typical of the insurance industry.

Unfortunately, because we’re relying on the private insurance industry to administer this program—this program was totally privatized—we can expect that these kinds of problems are going to persist.  This month—February—seniors and dual eligibles are supposed to be able to go through prior authorization processes to get their prescriptions maintained to continue to get their current medications.  I’m afraid that some of the very same insurance companies that failed to provide the 30-day supplies are also going to fail to provide fair hearings to seniors in the month of February—and dual eligibles—who need these drugs.  These people will still be without their medicines at the end of this month.  There will continue to be a supply of people without their medicines throughout the rest of the year.


And it’s not only seniors and dual eligibles that face this problem.  This is going to be a problem for the people who are coming on line in May.  People are going to be buying plans thinking that they cover their drugs, and then they will find that they don’t cover their drugs.  They’re going to buy plans that they think are going to be available to local pharmacies, and then they’re going to find that they’re not available at their local pharmacies.  And so, the problems of seniors are going to continue both for dual eligibles and for ordinary seniors as well.


California needs an ongoing relief program.  I think this is clear.  This program, I think, should be built on the state program—I would suggest.  The state already has a program—that had been provided for by Senator Ducheny’s panel, I believe—to provide for drugs that were not covered by the Part D program.  That’s correct.  That program—I don’t know why we couldn’t seek SPAP status for that program—State Pharmaceutical Assistance Program status for that program—which would enable California to get Medi-Cal/Medicaid prices, then, for all the drugs paid out of that program.  And that program could very possibly then be the basis of the broader program, the continuation program, that we’re all calling for on the panel here today.  We do have something going which may be a vehicle for continuing to provide coverage, desperately needed coverage, for Californians in need.


I think, also, we need to get tough with the deadbeat Medicare Advantage prescription drug plans.  Some are going to pay us back.  We heard some today say they’re going to pay us back.  That’s swell.  Unfortunately, there’s quite a few plans out there.  I’m afraid some of them are not going to pay us back.  And that’s all we’ve got from CMS is a guarantee, a so-called guarantee, that they’re going to get these plans to pay us back.  They’re not putting up federal dollars.  We’re supposed to go get it out of these insurance companies, and maybe they’ll pay us and maybe they won’t.  For those that don’t, I think we should get tough with them.  If it turns out that the state is giving money to these plans through other programs, we ought to take a look at that and see if we should continue paying them through those programs.  I think we should publicize the names of these companies if it turns out that some of these companies won’t pay the state back.  I think that seniors who have to make their choices in May would be well advised to know which insurance companies haven’t paid back the State of California yet.  That would certainly give them a good tip on what plans they ought to take.

I think that we also should think about directing dual eligibles.  If we do identify the plans that pay, we should be looking to try and get the dual eligibles into those plans.  At least that would get some of them off the state.  We wouldn’t have to continue to provide relief if they at least got to the more reputable plans that did pay them back.


I thank you very much for your time.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  Thank you very much, Dr. Castellblanch.


Now, are there any questions from members of the panel?


Yes, Senator.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Just two quick ones, and thank you for staying so late.


To what extent do any of you know about, or to the extent your clients are calling you, how are we getting information out about the low-income assistance?  Is that Social Security?  I mean, folks on the last panel talked about this, but isn’t that a Social Security program, and they have to apply separately?


MR. PASSMORE:  Social Security is determining the eligibility of people who voluntarily apply for it.  And I will tell you that from our perspective, it’s been one of the under-advertised features of this program.  The last thing that I read said, I believe, that there was about 25 to 30 percent of eligibles that had enrolled in low-income subsidy, and it’s a significant savings for them, and it bodes very poorly for this plan.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  So, they have to voluntarily apply, so they have to know if they’re eligible, just kind of by osmosis?  Because Social Security, it seems like they would know because they’re the ones that pay the Medicare checks.


MS. GILLIARD:  I think they got a notice sometime in the fall or early December.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Even if you weren’t a dual eligible.


MS. GILLIARD:  Well, the low-income subsidy is if you’re not a dual eligible.  If you are dual eligible, you automatically get the low-income subsidy.  But if you’re not a dual eligible and low income, you have to apply for the low-income subsidy.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  But how would you get the notice knowing that you’re eligible to apply?


MR. PASSMORE:  My understanding is that Social Security sent out a letter roughly targeted to that population group based upon their records of the income of this group.  Unfortunately, they used Social Security contact information, some of it terribly out of date.  It was not as current as the CMS.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  We’re hearing that a lot of people aren’t getting these notices.

MS. GILLIARD:  Well, they probably don’t know it’s called the low-income subsidy.  I think they call it “special help.”


SENATOR DUCHENY:  But even the dual eligibles in many cases are not receiving that assistance yet.  Is that true or not?


MR. PASSMORE:  The dual eligibles should have all been automatically enrolled into a plan, whether it met their needs or not, by December 31st.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  I understand that, but should have and would have—we’ve got 200,000 that are kind of out there, okay?  And beyond the fact that they may not know what plan—they may have been defaulted to WellPoint and may not know it, which is one problem—to what extent would those people know or would Social Security?  Part of the problem the pharmacists and the doctors are having is those persons are not being given the special help that they’re supposed to give.  So, then they’re being told, even as a dual eligible, that their plan costs them more than it’s supposed to.  I had thought that special help would take care of the co-payment issue.


MS. GILLIARD:  No.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  So, what does it do for a dual eligible?  What special help are they getting?


MS. GILLIARD:  Well, it’s real special help.  But part of the problem with the dual eligibles is the information didn’t get into the system.  That’s where a lot of the system failures came in, where dual eligibles were getting co-payments of a thousand dollars or $800 or $500—these astronomical amounts.  So, the data from the systems, it didn’t get where it was supposed to go.  There’s a huge lag in the data feed.  So, the dual eligible is very confused—so is the pharmacist in many cases—about what the person is eligible for, what they’re not eligible for.  There was a lot of convoluted material given to dual eligibles throughout the fall about choosing the plan and auto-assignments and all of that, but it was very confusing.  It’s not really clear.  And I think most dual eligibles just don’t know, and I think that’s part of the problem with the pharmacists.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  But what assistance were they getting under the theoretical assistance plan?


MR. PASSMORE:  Let me see if I can explain it.  Everybody under a Part D private insurance program is obligated to pay a premium, a co-pay, a $250 upfront deductible—so the first 250 costs in a calendar year is out of pocket—and then they slip into a “donut hole” after they have reached a certain level of expenditures.  Now, dual eligibles—the former Medi-Cal population—was exempted from paying all of those except the co-pays.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  I get it.  Okay.


MR. PASSMORE:  The people on special help can receive all of those items covered as well—or some amount—if they get the special help.  But they are people still low-income but higher than Medi-Cal eligible.

SENATOR DUCHENY:  Right.  Okay.


MS. GILLIARD:  But if you’re on Medi-Cal and the benchmark plan doesn’t have all of the medications you need, then that dual eligible would have to pay a premium for another plan to get those drugs, and then they would be in that whole system as a dual.


MR. OMOTO:  And there’s also assistance that regional centers can give for certain dual-eligible consumers under the regional center system.  I think the real problem here is, you’re members of the Legislature and you’re confused as well about who is eligible for what kind of assistance, and the thing is, what we’re saying and we’ve been saying all along, the population affected by this is confused because it’s not consistent . . . 


SENATOR DUCHENY:  No, we know that because we got the calls first.  Trust us.  We’ve been struggling to understand this all fall and I know that.


The next question—and it kind of goes back to the prior panel.  Let’s assume we were able to extend, as it looks like we’re not using up our $150 million as quickly as we had thought, which is a good thing, and it may be because the WellPoint system is kicking in and they’re defaulting over to WellPoint rather than to us, and that would be a good thing too.  But if we were to extend our time—let’s play it out until the end of the fiscal year.  Let’s just say we said, We’re going to make the default system available until June 30th.  Okay?  In the current year.  How could we push to get the WellPoint to pick up their. . . . in other words, in theory, we shouldn’t have any of that left over.  If everything else everybody said is correct, WellPoint should have managed to become the default rather than Medi-Cal within some reasonable period of time.  It may not be in two weeks, but it could be in a month or it could be in six weeks.  And so, at some point we shouldn’t have to pay all that money beyond the fact that we would, in theory, be reimbursed for all of whatever is spent.

MR. LIPSCHUTZ: 
All that the current WellPoint system is designed to do is to try to help dual eligibles who were not automatically assigned to any plan.  The WellPoint system was designed to try to pick those folks up.  It was designed, at least, to give them a prescription drug and to assign them to a plan if they’re unassigned.  That’s all it does.  Unless it gets expanded, as Stan Rosenstein was suggesting, that’s all the WellPoint plan will do.  It will not address long-term problems.  And even if just the emergency coverage that the state has graciously offered is extended in its current form, that also will not address a lot of the underlying problems.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Right.


MR. PASSMORE:  Senator, let me build on that very quickly.


The systems that exist—both the WellPoint plan and the state’s emergency plan—are in fact designed to deal with glitches.  They are designed to deal with computer data foul-ups, people not being recognized, and so on.  There are several ongoing problems that are fundamental and built into the system.  The first one is that a million poor California seniors and persons with disabilities are now paying out of pocket for drugs that they used to get free.  Secondly, we have systematically enrolled that population into the cheap plans that have the stingiest coverage and provisions and formularies.  And so, some of those people are not getting any help with the drugs that they need that Medi-Cal used to pay.  A completely separate problem that we don’t have a fix to identify for.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  But the plans do have some kind of a—what we would have called—the “tar(?) passes” in Medi-Cal, right?


MR. PASSMORE:  Yes.


[Cross-talking by many different people.]


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  We’re going to have to wrap up very soon.


MR. PASSMORE:  I just want to very quickly make the third point that there are people that enroll every month because they’re newly Medicare, they’re newly Medi-Cal, they’re in institutions and so on, and right now they’re going to fall between the cracks for some period of time in a coverage gap.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER BERG:  Any further questions?


I just want to thank the panel and now turn the last part back over to our chair, Assemblywoman Chan, for public comment.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  I also want to thank the panel.  I want to encourage you to work with your national networks on this because if the state is faced, like you said, with covering the hundred million dollars to make up for the co-pays, it’s going to be. . . . you know, it always comes from the same place.  So, let’s work on this together from a national perspective.


I guess there are a number of people who want to make public comment, if you could come up.  We’re going to limit you to one minute.  I’m sorry; it’s just because we’re way, way over time right now.  So, a whole bunch of you come up at once and take up all the mikes.  If you have written testimony you can’t finish in one minute, we’d be happy to take it and distribute it to members of all the committees.  Okay?


Go Ahead.


MR. RUSTY SELIX:  Rusty Selix on behalf of the Mental Health Association in California, also the California Council of Community Mental Health Agencies, and asked to speak also on behalf of NAMI California.  

I think that the problems of the dual eligibles are exacerbated for people who have severe and disabling mental illnesses, which is estimated to be 40 percent.  Forty-five percent are estimated to be on an atypical antipsychotic drug, which means they are considered to have schizophrenia or are bipolar.  These people are going to wind up on the streets, hospitalized, in jails, if they stop taking their meds.  They cannot pay the co-pays.  The State of New Jersey has moved in to cover the co-pays.  


The bottom line is, the system doesn’t work.  We would ask the state to go on record, cover the co-pays, find a way to make sure these people get their meds because this program does not work and will not ever work for this population.


Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Thank you.  Next please.


MS. ERIN RIGGS:  Hello.  Erin Riggs with the California Mental Health Directors Association.  I just want to give you a little bit of the perspective that we’re experiencing at the local level in terms of the Part D rollout.


I think that you’ve heard quite a bit from the advocates today in terms of what clients are experiencing.  We, too, are experiencing that with our clients.  We have been at the forefront of this issue trying to educate our clinicians.  They are troubleshooting these issues with the clients.  One of the handouts that’s going around right now is our initial formulary review of the ten basic floor plans.  It covers about 150 mental health medications.  I think it’s pretty self-explanatory when you take a look at it:  what’s covered, what’s not.  The formulary continues to be a major issue for us.  We are now running into problems with prior authorization requests being denied.


A couple of other things that I just want to touch on briefly.  I know it’s getting late.  One of the things that we are asked is of enforcement with CMS.  The guidance is just guidance to the Part D plans.  We need much more than that.  

I see you.  I’m going to wrap up here real quickly.


There is one thing that I wanted to mention in terms of the problems.  The med coverage is one.  The co-pays remain a problem.  The auto-enrollment, the data—I can’t stress enough that there are data lags.  There will always be problems unless. . . . the data is not real-time data.  It’s always going to be a lag.  It’s staged data and uploaded.


Again, our ask is of enforcement.  Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Okay, thank you.  Next please.


MS. BONNIE BURNS:  Bonnie Burns, California Health Advocates.


The companies that you heard from today are licensed in this state because they do other business in this state.  In ordinary times, the kind of consumer complaints that you’ve been hearing, you would look to the Department of Insurance or the Department of Managed Health Care to take care of those or to find the companies or to deny them licensing.  But these are not ordinary times.  Companies only have to apply for a license.  They don’t have to have one, and some don’t.  That means that the enforcement falls to CMS.  If a company were licensed in this state, the only authority that you’d have is over their licensing requirements and over their solvency.  If they’re not licensed in this state and they’ve got a waiver from CMS, then CMS is applying solvency standards.  And with all of the turmoil in the payment and cross-payment and confusion about who’s supposed to pay what, some of these companies are going to have to do reconciliation of the things that they’ve paid, and that may in fact affect the bottom line of some of these companies who are selling a product that is very unique.  Companies have not in the past sold something that just covered prescription drugs.


And I’d ask you to be alert for other attempts to limit your authority around regulating insurance companies with the association health plans that have been talked about as a solution for higher healthcare costs.


Thank you.


MS. BARBARA BIGLIERI:  Barbara Biglieri with the California Association for Health Services at Home.  We have home-health agencies, and also some of the home-infusion pharmacies.  I will echo what Michael Negrete said earlier today about the home-infusion pharmacies not fitting into Part D.  And I’ll explain a little bit about that.


We just wanted to alert the committee to this unidentified patient population that is not getting served on the Medi-Medi under Part D since it’s begun.  There are about a hundred home-infusion pharmacies out of the 5,000 pharmacies in California, and the key thing to know about home-infusion pharmacies is that’s the way you can provide intravenous drug therapies in a home setting.  That’s it.  It’s a professional service, it’s not a retail service, and currently under Medi-Cal it’s reimbursed as a retail service, and that’s the problem.  Under Part D, the same thing:  it doesn’t pay for equipment, supplies, or services.  There were a couple of articles—the L.A. Times and the San Francisco Chronicle—and I put them in my handout—that will give you a good explanation of those services.  Also, my testimony is in the handout too.  

But I think it’s important to recognize that it’s very different from retail pharmacy.  That’s the way it’s being treated.  And the people that it covers are cancer patients, hospice patients, people who need nutrition.  

And the last thing to state is that in August we notified CMS and we tried to get them to move Part D into Part B and treat it as a professional service, and we got a notice back saying, We’ll take your recommendations, and we’ll wait until after 2006.

And then, the last piece I want you to know is that the people who are really losing are the hospitals.  Of course the patients, but the hospitals because they’re absorbing people one to four days because it’s not being officially processed because they’re not getting authorizations and they’re on the phone for four hours.

And so, our solution is to move Part D into Part B, and then, in the meantime, cover it under Medi-Cal.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Thank you.


MS. RAMONA MENTER:  I’m Ramona Menter.  I’m a home-infusion pharmacist and a manager of a company in Sacramento.  Just a few comments to echo what Barbara said.


First of all, it was described earlier that the home-infusion issue popped up with CMS.  I’m here to tell you that we attempted for eighteen months to get them to recognize that this coverage was not going to work under Part D.  It is a professional medical service.  It goes way beyond retail pharmacy.  They chose to ignore this train coming down the track.


The problems are very real.  Patients are receiving dry powder with instructions to reconstitute it themselves instead of it being compounded in a sterile environment.  There are delays or denial of service that are very real, and there still are significant issues with the PDPs.  I personally have been on hold within the last week for over four hours with a plan.  I went to find out I needed to go somewhere else.  So, those issues are still there as well.


I would just strongly urge you to not let this issue go; that we need to strongly encourage CMS to carve home infusion out of Part D and put it into Part B as a professional service.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Thank you.  Next please.


MR. JIM SEPEDA:  My name is Jim Sepeda.  I’m with Coram Healthcare, a national home-infusion therapy provider with eight branches in California.  I’m also president of the Case Management Society of America chapter in San Jose, California.

I’d like to echo what my colleagues have said about the shortfalls in coverage for home-infusion therapy.  CMS is trying to fit us—and we are square-pegged—they’re trying to fit us into the round hole of retail pharmacy.  We just don’t fit.


Putting on my other hat and sharing with you some of the concerns of the case managers at the hospitals, and certainly the physicians who are trying to get coverage for these patients, not only is Medicare losing money, but Medi-Cal is losing money by having these patients stay in a hospital or being relegated to a skilled nursing facility instead of being able to receive these services at home because there’s just not adequate coverage.


Thank you very much.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Thank you.  


MS. EILEEN GOODIS:  My name is Eileen Goodis.  I, too, am a home-infusion pharmacist.  I have a regional company in Southern California.  We take care of about 2,000 patients at home on infusion services.  We take care of them in the safety of their home, the comfort of their home, and exquisitely cost effectively.  

Since the implementation of this Part D program, we’ve calculated that we have about 200 patients that have been referred to us from the hospitals that are having to stay in the hospital anywhere from one to four days.  If you calculate that out at about $2,500 per patient, that’s a half a million dollars in extra expenses to the State of California from my small company alone, not to mention that these patients could be taken care of much more effectively in the home setting.


I am here representing hospitals that are having serious problems getting patients out of the hospital, such as City of Hope Hospital, Los Robles, Glendale Adventist, White Memorial, Corona Regional Medical Center, St. Mary Hospital, and I could go on and on.  Please help us.


Thank you very much.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Thank you.


MS. TERESA MARY JOHNSON:  I’m Teresa Mary Johnson, and I’m with the Older Women’s League.  I brought today my personal collection out of the bottom of my linen closet of my 5,000 dollars’ worth of prescriptions this year to maintain a quality of life.  

I also had the occasion some years ago to be on Medi-Cal.  I don’t know if it’s ten years, fifteen—it might be twenty—that they had co-pays for Medi-Cal.  They were minimal:  a dollar, two dollars, whatever.  But I was also a widow with nine children at home, and that’s why we were on Medi-Cal then.  I managed to pay my co-pays, but many other people didn’t and didn’t take their children to doctors and things when they should have.


I want you to know that what happened with that co-pay thing is it went on for either one, two, or three years.  You’ll have to look up the history.  I don’t have it.  And then, they stopped it because the bureaucracy put together to collect their co-pays was costing them $3 for every $1 they retrieved.  So, if it wasn’t a good idea and it didn’t work for California then, it sure ain’t going to work now.


Commissioner Garamendi said that he wasn’t able to explain Medicare Part D to his 84-year-old mother, who is English-speaking, well-read, educated, but 84, because he couldn’t explain it to her because he couldn’t understand it.  Okay?  So, it’s “Part D:  Disaster or Dilemma?” depending on what hits you personally.

I also have heard from people that individuals must pick up their prescriptions in person.  Now, how is that possible for our disabled community?  You know?  They have caregivers.  They have chore workers.  They have people who have been picking up their prescriptions.  So, at least there should be some kind of a relief on that.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Okay, thank you.  Your time is up.  I’m sorry to cut you off.


MS. JOHNSON:  Thank you very much. 


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Anybody else?  Yes.


MS. DEBORAH DOCTOR:  Deborah Doctor, representing Protection and Advocacy and the nearly half of the population we’re talking about who are people with disabilities.


One specific recommendation and one very specific recommendation.  The first one has to do, in general, with outreach.  We’ve talked about the difficulty in getting a message out.  I think I heard much earlier today that the feds would reimburse for outreach.  I would recommend—and others will, too, I’m sure—that the state purchase time—purchase ads, purchase TV time—if we’re going to get reimbursed, and especially including all the ethnic media in this state.  So, that’s one specific suggestion.


And the next one is, on the population of people who laid out money before January 12th—and maybe even after that—I was flattered to hear Stan say that he had told the advocates about that, but he must think we have more power than we do.  I would suggest—and the pharmacists know exactly who those people are who handed over that money—there is a more targeted and effective way to get at them and get their money reimbursed to them.

Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Thank you.


MS. RACHEL FORD:  Good afternoon.  My name is Rachel Ford.  I have an adult son with bipolar disorder.  I have a 17-year-old son with traumatic brain disorder, and I have bipolar disorder myself.  We purchase twenty-seven prescription medications every month, twelve nutritional supplements, and four over-the-counter medications to keep our household running smoothly.  I also work as an advocate in the disabilities community because of my family life.  I work with many people who are Medi-Medi.  

In the developmental disabilities community, the Department of Developmental Services through the regional centers has set up a system where folks who have developmental disabilities can get extra assistance and can learn about how to use the Part D system to their advantage.  Even if they need through an extreme situation, they can get their co-pays paid for.  But for folks with mental health issues, this system has not been set up.  So, I would urge you to work more strongly with folks in the mental health community and get that situation righted for them as well.


Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHAN:  Thank you.  Is there anyone else who would like to speak?


I want to thank everyone who is left and everyone who testified today.  I want to thank Stan for staying for the whole hearing.  I think that we have our work cut out for us, and I hope that you can bring back to the Administration that we’re going to have to be very, very strong advocates for California because these problems are not going to go away fast, they’re not going to be easily solved.  There are going to be many, many demands on the healthcare system because of this plan that we didn’t vote for.  So, we’re going to have to really, really push very, very hard to make sure that our patients in California aren’t shortchanged.


So, thank you very much.
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